Advances in theory of evolution equations of many colliding particles

V. I. Gerasimenko, I. V. Gapyak

Abstract. The review presents rigorous results of the theory of fundamental equations of evolution of many-particle systems with collisions and also considers their connection with nonlinear kinetic equations describing the collective behavior of particles in scaling approximations.

Анотація. В огляді подано строгі результати теорії фундаментальних еволюційних рівнянь систем багатьох частинок із зіткненнями, а також розглянуто їх зв'язок із нелінійними кінетичними рівняннями, які описують колективну поведінку частинок у скейлінгових наближеннях.

Contents

1.	Preface	730
1.1.	A chronological overview of the theory of evolution	
	equations for many colliding particles	732
1.2.	Evolution equations of finitely many hard spheres	734
2.	Hierarchies of evolution equations for colliding particles	741
2.1.	Hierarchy of evolution equations for reduced observables	741
2.2.	The BBGKY hierarchy for reduced distribution functions	748
2.3.	The Liouville hierarchy for correlation functions	756
2.4.	The hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations for reduced	
	correlation functions	767
3.	Nonlinear kinetic equations for many hard spheres	772
3.1.	On the Boltzmann–Grad scaling approximation	773
3.2.	The Boltzmann–Grad limit of reduced observables	774
3.3.	The Boltzmann kinetic equation	777
3.4.	The Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations	780
4.	Origin of kinetic equations	783
4.1.	The generalised Enskog kinetic equation	784
4.2.	Dynamics of correlations governed by kinetic equations	788

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification: 35C10; 35Q20; 82C05; 82D05; 70F45

Keywords: hierarchy of evolution equations; kinetic equation; cumulant; semigroup of operators; colliding particles

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3842/trim.v20n1.528

5.	Conclusion	792
5.1.	On the dynamics of inelastic collisions	792
5.2.	Some bibliographic notes on collisional dynamics	796
5.3.	Outlook	797
References		799

1. Preface

This review presents the modern theory of evolution equations for systems of many particles with collisions. The traditional approach to describing the evolution of both finitely and infinitely many classical particles is based on the description of the evolution of all possible states by means of the reduced distribution functions governed by the BBGKY hierarchy (Bogolyubov–Born–Green–Kirkwood–Yvon), which for finitely many particles is an equivalent to the Liouville equation for the probability distribution function [14, 82, 83].

As is known, in the basis of the description of many-particle systems, there are notions of the state and the observable. The functional of the mean value of observables defines a duality between observables and states, and as a consequence, there exist two approaches to the description of evolution. Thus, an equivalent approach to the description of evolution is to describe the evolution by means of observables governed by the so-called dual BBGKY hierarchy for reduced observables [10, 51].

In certain situations [14], the collective behavior of many-particle systems can be adequately described by the kinetic equations. The conventional philosophy of the description of kinetic evolution consists of the following: if the initial state is specified by a one-particle reduced distribution function, then the evolution of the state can be effectively described by means of a one-particle reduced distribution function governed by the nonlinear kinetic equation in a suitable scaling limit. A well-known historical example of a kinetic equation is the Boltzmann equation, which describes the process of particle collisions in rarefied gases [13].

Nowadays, a number of papers have appeared that discuss possible approaches to the rigorous description of the evolution of many colliding particles [25, 29, 52, 88, 89, 92, 94]. In particular, this is related to the problem of the rigorous derivation of the Boltzmann kinetic equation from the underlying hierarchies of fundamental evolution equations. The conventional method of deriving the Boltzmann equation consists of constructing the Boltzmann–Grad scaling asymptotics of the BBGKY hierarchy solution represented by series expansions within the framework of perturbation theory. The most advanced and rigorous results to date have been obtained for systems of colliding particles, which is why the motivation for writing this work is to discuss the theory of evolution equations for such many-particle systems [4, 52, 98].

In what follows, we mainly consider three challenges are left open until recently [52].

One of them is related to the construction of solutions to the Cauchy problem for hierarchies of fundamental evolution equations for systems of many particles with collisions, using the example of hard spheres with elastic collisions. It is established that the cluster expansions of groups of operators for the Liouville equations for observables and a state of many hard spheres underlie the classification of possible non-perturbative solution representations of the Cauchy problem for the dual BBGKY hierarchy and the BBGKY hierarchy, respectively. As a consequence, these solutions are represented in the form of series expansions whose generating operators are the cumulants of the groups of operators for the Liouville equations. In a particular case, the non-perturbative solutions of these hierarchies are represented in the form of the perturbation (iteration) series as a result of applying analogs of the Duhamel equation to their generating operators. The paper also formulated the Liouville hierarchy of evolution equations for correlation functions of the state and established that the dynamics of correlations underlie the description of the evolution of an infinitely many hard spheres that are governed by the BBGKY hierarchy for the reduced distribution functions or the hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations for the reduced correlation functions [53].

Another challenge considered below is an approach to the description of the kinetic evolution within the framework of the evolution of the observables of many colliding particles [51]. The problem of a rigorous description of the kinetic evolution of hard sphere observables is considered by giving the example of the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics of the non-perturbative solution of the dual BBGKY hierarchy. One of the advances of this approach is the opportunity to construct kinetic equations, taking into account the correlations of particles in the initial state and also the description of the process of propagation of initial correlations in scaling approximations.

In addition, this paper discusses the approach to describing the evolution of a state by means of the state of a typical particle of a system of many hard spheres, or, in other words, we consider the origin of the description of the evolution of the state of hard spheres by the Enskog-type kinetic equation [47]. One of the applications of the method is related to the challenge of the rigorous derivation of kinetic equations of the non-Markovian type based on the dynamics of correlations, which allow us to describe the memory effects in complex systems. Thus, this review presents rigorous results in the theory of fundamental evolution equations for many-particle systems with collisions, as well as nonlinear kinetic equations describing their collective behavior in scaling approximations.

1.1. A chronological overview of the theory of evolution equations for many colliding particles. The theory of kinetic equations begins with the work of L. Boltzmann [9], where an evolution equation for collision dynamics was formulated based on phenomenological models of kinetic phenomena. Later, to generalize the Boltzmann equation for the case of dense gases or fluids, D. Enskog [26] formulated a kinetic equation for a system of many hard spheres, now known as the Enskog equation.

The idea that equations formulated on the basis of phenomenological models of phenomena, such as hydrodynamics equations or kinetic equations, should be derived from fundamental evolutionary equations for systems of many particles, namely the Liouville equations, apparently goes back to the works of D. Hilbert [76] and H. Poincaré [85]. At the Second International Congress of Mathematicians, held in Paris at the beginning of the 20th century, D. Hilbert formulated this idea in his list of open questions as follows: "Boltzmann's work on the principles of mechanics suggests the problem of developing mathematically the limiting processes that lead from the atomistic view to the laws of motion of continua".

The approach to describe the evolution of the state of many-particle systems in a way equivalent to the Liouville equation for the probability distribution function based on the hierarchy of evolution equations for reduced distribution functions, known in our time as the BBGKY hierarchy, was most consistently formulated in the work of M. M. Bogolyubov [6], and independently by M. Born and H. S. Green [11], J. G. Kirkwood [77], J. Yvon [100].

In his famous monograph "Problems of the Dynamical Theory in Statistical Physics" [6], which was actually the manuscript of a 1945 report at the Institute of Mathematics in Kyiv, M. M. Bogolyubov also formulated a consistent approach to the problem of deriving kinetic equations from the dynamics of many particles. Using the methods of perturbation theory, an approach was developed to construct a generalization of the Boltzmann equation, known as the Bogolyubov kinetic equation, as well as justify the Vlasov and Landau kinetic equations for the first time. Thanks to this work, the irreversibility mechanism of the evolution of systems of many particles, whose dynamics are described as reversible in time by the fundamental equations of motion, became clear. A little later, in the Proceedings of the Institute of Mathematics, M. M. Bogolyubov published a paper on the derivation of the equations of hydrodynamics from the BBGKY hierarchy [5]. These works became widely known as a result of G. E. Uhlenbeck's lectures [16]. Bogolyubov's ideas became the cradle of modern kinetic theory, as M. H. Ernst noted in his review [27]. The Bogolyubov method of deriving the Boltzmann kinetic equation directly from the BBGKY hierarchy is presented in modern terminology in the book [14].

Since these lines are written in the work dedicated to the 160th anniversary of the birth of Dmytro Oleksandrovych Grave, the first academician of the Ukraine Academy of Sciences in mathematics and the founder of the Institute of Mathematics in 1920, it should be reminded that M. M. Bogolyubov was one of the students of D. O. Grave, thanks to whom he became an outstanding scientist in the field of mathematical physics. It is known that in 1922 at the age of thirteen, M. Bogolyubov became a participant in Grave's famous mathematician seminar. In 1925, at the request of professor D. O. Grave, the Small Presidium of Ukrgolovnauka made a decision: "In view of his phenomenal abilities in mathematics, to consider M. Bogolyubov as a post-graduate student of the research department of mathematics in Kyiv from June, 1925", and already in 1928 he defended his doctoral thesis. By the way, this historical precedent convincingly illustrates the significance of a scientific school for the development of mathematics.

Rigorous methods for the description of the equilibrium state by the Gibbs distribution functions [71], i.e., by solutions of the steady BBGKY hierarchy, originate from the works of M. M. Bogolyubov and D. Ya. Petrina within the framework of a canonical ensemble [7] and D. Ruelle within the framework of a grand canonical ensemble [90] and were investigated in numerous works as a new direction of the progress of modern mathematical physics in the 70-80s. In our time, mention above work of M. M. Bogolyubov, D. Ya. Petrina and B. I. Khatset was included in the special issue of the Ukrainian Journal of Physics dedicated to the 90th Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, which was was republished the most significant works of Ukrainian physicists over the entire period of the Academy's existence, in other words, works that contributed to the golden fund of world physical science (Golden Pages of Ukrainian Physics [8]).

Note that the mathematical description of the Gibbs equilibrium states for infinitely many particles forms the principal part of modern statistical mechanics. The main rigorous results about the equilibrium Gibbs states were presented in the book [64].

The mathematical theory of the BBGKY hierarchy originates from the works of D. Ya. Petrina and V. I. Gerasimenko [56–58, 81, 82] in the early 80s. The dual BBGKY hierarchy for reduced functions of observables was introduced by V. I. Gerasimenko in the middle of the 1980s, and the

theory of these evolution equations began to develop in the last two decades (see [52] and references therein).

Mathematical methods for deriving nonlinear kinetic equations from the BBGKY hierarchy began to develop intensively in the early 1980s [12, 79]. One of the achievements of this period was the formal derivation of the Boltzmann equation from the dynamics of an infinite number of hard spheres in the Boltzmann–Grad limit.

In the approach to the problem of deriving kinetic equations from particle dynamics, which was formulated by H. Grad [73] and has now become generally accepted, the philosophy of the description of kinetic evolution looks like this: if the initial state is specified by a one-particle distribution function, then the evolution of the state of many particles can be effectively described by means of a one-particle distribution function governed by a nonlinear kinetic equation in a certain scaling approximation.

The Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics of a solution of the BBGKY hierarchy, represented as an iteration series for infinitely many hard spheres, was first constructed by C. Cercignani [12] and O. E. Lanford [79] and rigorously justified in a series of papers [59–61,83] by D. Ya. Petrina and V. I. Gerasimenko (some details are given in sections 2.2 and 3.1). Incidentally, it should be noted that the results of the papers [57,59] were discussed with Academician M. M. Bogolyubov at that time and were submitted by him for publication.

Rigorous results of the theory of evolution equations for hard spheres and the derivation of the Boltzmann equation from the BBGKY hierarchy in the Boltzmann–Grad limit were summarized in monographs C. Cercignani, V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina [14], C. Cercignani, R. Illner and M. Pulvirenti [15], H. Spohn [95] at the end of the 90th.

The last two decades of progress in solving the problem of rigorous derivation of kinetic equations from the collisional dynamics of particles are represented in numerous recent works [4, 20, 25, 28, 29, 87–89, 92, 94]. The challenges of this area of contemporary mathematical physics are also discussed in the latest review [52]. With respect to the modern progress in the theory of evolution equations of quantum many-particle systems, we refer to the overview [38].

In these notes, recent advances in the theory of evolutionary equations for many colliding particles will be considered; more precisely, we focus on the dynamics of many hard spheres with elastic collisions.

1.2. Evolution equations of finitely many hard spheres. The description of many-particle systems is based on the concepts of an observable and a state. The mean value functional (expectation values) of observables defines the duality between observables and a state, and as a result, there are two approaches to describing evolution. The evolution of the system of finitely many colliding particles considered below is governed by such fundamental evolution equations as the Liouville equation for observables or its dual equation for a state.

Within the framework of a non-fixed, i.e., arbitrary but finite average number of identical particles (non-equilibrium grand canonical ensemble), the observables and the state of a hard sphere system are described by the sequences of functions

$$A(t) = (A_0, A_1(t, x_1), \dots, A_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$$

at instant $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and by the sequence

$$D(0) = (D_0, D_1^0(x_1), \dots, D_n^0(x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$$

of the probability distribution functions at the initial moment, respectively. These functions are defined on the phase spaces of the corresponding number of particles, i.e., $x_i \equiv (q_i, p_i) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$ is phase coordinates that characterize a center of the *i* hard sphere with a diameter of $\sigma > 0$ in the space \mathbb{R}^3 and its momentum and are symmetrical with respect to arbitrary permutations of their arguments. For configurations of a system of identical particles of a unit mass interacting as hard spheres the following inequalities are satisfied: $|q_i - q_j| \ge \sigma$, $i \ne j \ge 1$, i.e., the set

$$\mathbb{W}_n \equiv \left\{ (q_1, \dots, q_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n} \mid |q_i - q_j| < \sigma \right\}$$

for at least one pair (i, j): $i \neq j \in (1, ..., n)$, n > 1, is the set of forbidden configurations.

A mean value functional of the observable of a hard sphere system is represented by the series expansion [83]:

$$\langle A \rangle(t) = (I, D(0))^{-1}(A(t), D(0)),$$
 (1.1)

where the following abbreviated notation

$$(A(t), D(0)) \equiv \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^n} A_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n) D_n^0(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_1 \cdots dx_n$$

was used and the coefficient (I, D(0)) is a normalizing factor (grand canonical partition function).

We remark that in the particular case of a system of $N < \infty$ hard spheres the observables and a state are described by the one-component sequences:

$$A^{(N)}(t) = (0, \dots, 0, A_N(t), 0, \dots)$$

and

$$D^{(N)}(0) = (0, \dots, 0, D_N^0, 0, \dots),$$

respectively, and therefore, functional (1.1) has the following representation

$$\langle A^{(N)} \rangle(t) = (I, D^{(N)}(0))^{-1} (A^{(N)}(t), D^{(N)}(0)) \equiv$$

$$\equiv (I, D^{(N)}(0))^{-1} \frac{1}{N!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^N} A_N(t, x_1, \dots, x_N) D_N^0(x_1, \dots, x_N) dx_1 \cdots dx_N,$$

where

$$(I, D^{(N)}(0)) = \frac{1}{N!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^N} D_N^0(x_1, \dots, x_N) dx_1 \cdots dx_N$$

is the normalizing factor (canonical partition function), and it is usually assumed that the normalization condition $(I, D^{(N)}(0)) = 1$ holds.

Let C_{γ} be the space of sequences $b = (b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_n, \ldots)$ of bounded continuous functions $b_n = b_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ that are symmetric with respect to permutations of the arguments x_1, \ldots, x_n , equal to zero on the set of forbidden configurations \mathbb{W}_n and equipped with the norm:

$$\|b\|_{\mathcal{C}_{\gamma}} = \max_{n \ge 0} \frac{\gamma^n}{n!} \|b\|_{\mathcal{C}_n} = \max_{n \ge 0} \frac{\gamma^n}{n!} \sup_{x_1,\dots,x_n} |b_n(x_1,\dots,x_n)|,$$

where $0 < \gamma < 1$. We also introduce the space $L^1_{\alpha} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha^n L^1_n$ of sequences $f = (f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_n, \ldots)$ of integrable functions $f_n = f_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ that are symmetric with respect to permutations of the arguments x_1, \ldots, x_n , equal to zero on the set \mathbb{W}_n and equipped with the norm:

$$\|f\|_{L^1_{\alpha}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha^n \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^n} |f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n)| dx_1 \cdots dx_n,$$

where $\alpha > 1$ is a real number. If $A(t) \in C_{\gamma}$ and $D(0) \in L^{1}_{\alpha}$ mean value functional (1.1) exists and determines the duality between observables and states.

The evolution of the observables

$$A(t) = (A_0, A_1(t, x_1), \dots, A_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$$

is described by the Cauchy problem for the sequence of the weak formulation of the Liouville equations for hard spheres with elastic collisions [14]. On the space C_{γ} a non-perturbative solution A(t) = S(t)A(0) of the Liouville equation of many hard spheres is determined by the following group of operators [83]:

$$(S(t)b)_{n}(x_{1},...,x_{n}) = S_{n}(t,1,...,n)b_{n}(x_{1},...,x_{n}) \doteq \doteq \begin{cases} b_{n}(X_{1}(t,x_{1},...,x_{n}),...,X_{n}(t,x_{1},...,x_{n})), \\ if(x_{1},...,x_{n}) \in (\mathbb{R}^{3n} \times (\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_{n})), \\ 0, & if(q_{1},...,q_{n}) \in \mathbb{W}_{n}, \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

where for arbitrary $t \in \mathbb{R}$ the function $X_i(t)$ is a phase trajectory of *ith* particle constructed in book [14] and the set \mathbb{M}_n^0 of the zero Lebesgue measure, which consists of the phase space points that are specified such initial data that during the evolution generate multiple collisions, i.e., collisions of more than two particles, more than one two-particle collision at the same instant, and an infinite number of collisions within a finite time interval.

On the space C_{γ} one-parameter mapping (1.2) is an isometric *-weak continuous group of operators, i.e., it is a C_0^* -group [19]. The infinitesimal generator $\mathcal{L} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}_n$ of the group of operators (1.2) has the structure:

$$\mathcal{L}_n = \sum_{j=1}^n \mathcal{L}(j) + \sum_{j_1 < j_2 = 1}^n \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(j_1, j_2),$$

where the operator $\mathcal{L}(j)$ defined on the set $C_{n,0}$ of continuously differentiable functions with compact supports is the Liouville operator of free evolution of the j hard sphere and for $t \ge 0$ the operators $\mathcal{L}(j)$ and $\mathcal{L}_{int}(j_1, j_2)$ are defined by the formulas [22,83]:

$$\mathcal{L}(j) \doteq \langle p_j, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_j} \rangle,$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{int}(j_1, j_2) b_n \doteq \sigma^2 \int_{\mathbb{S}^2_+} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_1} - p_{j_2}) \rangle \delta(q_{j_1} - q_{j_2} + \sigma \eta) \times$$

$$\times (b_n(x_1, \dots, q_{j_1}, p_{j_1}^*, \dots, q_{j_2}, p_{j_2}^*, \dots, x_n) - b_n(x_1, \dots, x_n)),$$
(1.3)

respectively. In formulas (1.3) the symbol $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes a scalar product, δ is the Dirac measure, $\mathbb{S}^2_+ \doteq \{\eta \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |\eta| = 1, \langle \eta, (p_{j_1} - p_{j_2}) \rangle > 0 \}$ and the post-collision momenta: $p_{j_1}^*, p_{j_2}^*$ are defined by the equalities

$$p_{j_{1}}^{*} \doteq p_{j_{1}} - \eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_{1}} - p_{j_{2}}) \rangle, p_{j_{2}}^{*} \doteq p_{j_{2}} + \eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_{1}} - p_{j_{2}}) \rangle.$$
(1.4)

For t < 0 operator (1.3) is defined by the corresponding expression [14].

It should be noted that the structure of generator (1.3) is determined, on the one hand, by the singular interaction potential of hard spheres and, on the other, by the fact that the group of operators (1.2) is defined for pairwise collisions outside the set \mathbb{M}_n^0 of the zero Lebesgue measure defined above in (1.2).

As mentioned above, the evolution of observables for many hard spheres, i.e., the sequences of functions $A_n(t) = S_n(t)A_n^0$, $n \ge 1$, is governed by the Cauchy problem for the sequence of the weak formulation of the Liouville equations with these generators [51]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}A_n(t) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \mathcal{L}(j) + \sum_{j_1 < j_2 = 1}^n \mathcal{L}_{int}(j_1, j_2)\right)A_n(t),$$

$$A_n(t)|_{t=0} = A_n^0, \quad n \ge 1.$$
(1.5)

For mean value functional (1.1) the following representation holds

$$(A(t), D(0)) = (A(0), D(t)),$$

where the sequence $D(t) = (1, D_1(t, x_1), \dots, D_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$ of distribution functions is defined as follows:

$$D(t) = S^*(t)D(0),$$

and the mapping $S^*(t)$ is an adjoint operator to operator (1.2) in the sense of mean value functional (1.1). We emphasize that this equality is a consequence of a fundamental property of Hamiltonian systems, namely, the validity of the Liouville theorem for phase trajectories [14], i.e., isometry of the groups of operators (1.2).

On the space $L^1_{\alpha} = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha^n L^1_n$ of sequences of integrable functions, the group of operators $S^*(t) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S^*_n(t)$ is an adjoint to the group of operators (1.2) in the sense of functional (1.1) and is defined as follows [83]:

$$S^*(t) = S(-t).$$
(1.6)

On the space L^1_{α} , one-parameter mapping (1.6) is an isometric strong continuous group of operators, i.e., it is a C_0 -group [19]. The infinitesimal generator $\mathcal{L}^* = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}^*_n$ of this group of operators has the structure:

$$\mathcal{L}_{n}^{*} \doteq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}^{*}(j) + \sum_{j_{1} < j_{2} = 1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(j_{1}, j_{2}),$$

and for t > 0 the operators $\mathcal{L}^*(j)$ and $\mathcal{L}^*_{int}(j_1, j_2)$ are defined by the formulas:

$$\mathcal{L}^{*}(j)f_{n} \doteq -\langle p_{j}, \frac{\sigma}{\partial q_{j}} \rangle f_{n},
\mathcal{L}^{*}_{int}(j_{1}, j_{2})f_{n} \doteq \sigma^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}_{+}} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_{1}} - p_{j_{2}}) \rangle \times
\times \left(f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, p^{*}_{j_{1}}, q_{j_{1}}, \dots, p^{*}_{j_{2}}, q_{j_{2}}, \dots, x_{n}) \delta(q_{j_{1}} - q_{j_{2}} + \sigma \eta) - - f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \delta(q_{j_{1}} - q_{j_{2}} - \sigma \eta) \right),$$
(1.7)

respectively, the pre-collision momenta $p_{j_1}^*, p_{j_2}^*$ are defined by relations (1.4) and notations accepted in formula (1.3) are used. For t < 0 these operators are defined by the corresponding expressions [64].

We note that the evolution of the state, i.e., the sequence of probability distribution functions $D_n(t) = S_n^*(t)D_n^0$, $n \ge 1$, describes by the Cauchy problem for the sequence of the weak formulation of the Liouville equations for many hard spheres with these generators [83]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}D_n(t) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \mathcal{L}^*(j) + \sum_{j_1 < j_2 = 1}^n \mathcal{L}^*_{int}(j_1, j_2)\right)D_n(t),$$

$$D_n(t)|_{t=0} = D_n^0, \quad n \ge 1.$$
(1.8)

Thus, the evolution of finitely many colliding particles is governed by the fundamental evolution equations, such as the Liouville equation for observables (1.5) or its dual equation for a state (1.8).

To formulate another representation of the mean value functional (1.1) in terms of sequences of so-called reduced observables and reduced distribution functions, on sequences of bounded continuous functions we introduce an analog of the creation operator

$$(\mathfrak{a}^+b)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) \doteq \sum_{j=1}^s b_{s-1}((x_1,\ldots,x_s)\backslash (x_j)), \tag{1.9}$$

and on sequences of integrable functions, we introduce an adjoint operator to operator (1.9) in the sense of mean value functional (1.1) which is an analogue of the annihilation operator

$$(\mathfrak{a}f)_n(x_1,\dots,x_n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} f_{n+1}(x_1,\dots,x_n,x_{n+1}) dx_{n+1}.$$
(1.10)

Then as a consequence of the validity of equalities:

$$(b,f) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}^+}e^{-\mathfrak{a}^+}b,f) = (e^{-\mathfrak{a}^+}b,e^{\mathfrak{a}}f),$$

for mean value functional (1.1) the following representation holds:

$$\langle A \rangle (t) = (I, D(0))^{-1} (A(t), D(0)) = (B(t), F(0)),$$
 (1.11)

where a sequence of the reduced observables is defined by the formula

$$B(t) = e^{-\mathfrak{a}^{+}} S(t) A(0), \qquad (1.12)$$

and a sequence of so-called reduced distribution functions is defined as follows (known as the non-equilibrium grand canonical ensemble [82])

$$F(0) = (I, D(0))^{-1} e^{\mathfrak{a}} D(0),$$

respectively.

Thus, according to the definition of the operator $e^{-\mathfrak{a}^+}$, the sequence of reduced observables (1.12) in component-wise form is represented by the expansions:

$$B_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) =$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{s} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{n!} \sum_{j_{1} \neq \dots \neq j_{n}=1}^{s} (S(t)A(0))_{s-n} ((x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}}, \dots, x_{j_{n}})), \quad (1.13)$$

$$s \ge 1,$$

The mean value functional (1.11) also has the following representation:

$$(B(t), F(0)) = (B(0), F(t)).$$
(1.14)

The sequence $F(t) = (1, F_1(t, x_1), \dots, F_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$ of reduced distribution functions is defined as follows (known as the non-equilibrium grand canonical ensemble [82])

$$F(t) = (I, D(0))^{-1} e^{\mathfrak{a}} S^*(t) D(0), \qquad (1.15)$$

where the mapping $S^*(t)$ is an adjoint operator (1.6) to operator (1.2). According to the definition of the operator $e^{\mathfrak{a}}$, the sequence of reduced distribution functions (1.15) in component-wise form is represented by the series:

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = (I, D(0))^{-1} \times \\ \times \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} (S^{*}(t)D(0))_{s+n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n}, \ s \ge 1,$$

where the coefficient (I, D(0)) is the normalizing factor as above.

We emphasize that a widely used approach to the description of the evolution of many hard spheres is based on the evolution of a state determined by the BBGKY hierarchy for reduced distribution functions [14]. An equivalent approach to describing evolution is based on reduced observables (1.12) governed by the dual hierarchy of evolution equations [52].

2. HIERARCHIES OF EVOLUTION EQUATIONS FOR COLLIDING PARTICLES

As is well known, hierarchies of evolution equations for sequences of reduced functions of observables and, accordingly, of a state for a finitely many hard spheres are equivalent to the Liouville equations. Their advantages consist in the possibility of rigorously describing the evolution of infinitely many hard spheres whose collective behavior exhibits thermodynamic (statistical) features, namely, the existence of an equilibrium state in such a system as well as the kinetic or hydrodynamic behavior in corresponding scaling approximations [14, 21, 64].

An alternative approach to the description of the evolution of the state of a hard-sphere system is based on functions determined by the cluster expansions of the probability distribution functions. The cumulants of probability distribution functions are interpreted as correlation functions and are governed by the Liouville hierarchy. The following outlines the approach to the description of the evolution of a state by means of both reduced distribution functions and reduced correlation functions, which is based on the dynamics of correlations [53]. It should be emphasized that on a microscopic scale, the macroscopic characteristics of fluctuations of observables are directly determined by the reduced correlation functions.

2.1. Hierarchy of evolution equations for reduced observables. The motivation for describing the evolution of many-particle systems in terms of reduced observables is related to possible equivalent representations of the mean value functional (mathematical expectation) of observables, namely as (1.11) compared to the traditionally used form (1.14).

The evolution of sequence (1.12) of reduced observables of many hard spheres is determined by the Cauchy problem of the following abstract hierarchy of evolution equations [10, 51]:

$$\frac{d}{dt}B(t) = \mathcal{L}B(t) + \left[\mathcal{L}, \mathfrak{a}^+\right]B(t), \qquad (2.1)$$

$$B(t)\big|_{t=0} = B(0), \tag{2.2}$$

where the operator \mathcal{L} is generator (1.3) of the group of operators (1.2) for hard spheres, the symbol $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the commutator of operators, which in equation (2.1) has the following component-wise form:

$$([\mathcal{L},\mathfrak{a}^+]b)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) =$$

= $\sum_{j_1\neq j_2=1}^s \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{int}}(j_1,j_2)b_{s-1}(t,(x_1,\ldots,x_s)\backslash x_{j_1}), \quad s \ge 1.$

In a component-wise form the hierarchy of evolution equations (2.1) for hard-sphere fluids, in fact, is a sequence of recurrence evolution equations

(in literature it is known as the dual BBGKY hierarchy [52]). We adduce the simplest examples of recurrent evolution equations (2.1):

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_1(t,x_1) &= \mathcal{L}(1)B_1(t,x_1),\\ \frac{\partial}{\partial t}B_2(t,x_1,x_2) &= \Big(\sum_{i=1}^2 \mathcal{L}(j) + \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(1,2)\Big)B_2(t,x_1,x_2) + \\ &+ \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}(1,2)\Big(B_1(t,x_1) + B_1(t,x_2)\Big), \end{aligned}$$

where the generators of these equations are defined by formula (1.3).

The non-perturbative solution of the Cauchy problem of the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1),(2.2) for hard spheres is a sequence of reduced observables represented by the following expansions [65, 66]:

$$B_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \left(e^{\mathfrak{a}^{+}}\mathfrak{A}(t)B(0)\right)_{s}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \\ = \sum_{n=0}^{s} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{j_{1} \neq \dots \neq j_{n}=1}^{s} \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}\left(t, \{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})\}, j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}\right) \times \\ \times B_{s-n}^{0}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{j_{1}-1}, x_{j_{1}+1}, \dots, x_{j_{n}-1}, x_{j_{n}+1}, \dots, x_{s}), \ s \ge 1,$$

$$(2.3)$$

where the mappings $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, are the generating operators which are represented as cumulant expansions with respect of groups of operators (1.2). The simplest examples of reduced observables (2.3) are given by the following expansions:

$$B_1(t, x_1) = \mathfrak{A}_1(t, 1)B_1^0(x_1),$$

$$B_2(t, x_1, x_2) = \mathfrak{A}_1(t, \{1, 2\})B_2^0(x_1, x_2) + \mathfrak{A}_2(t, 1, 2)(B_1^0(x_1) + B_1^0(x_2)).$$

To determine the generating operators of expansions of reduced observables (2.3), we will introduce the notion of dual cluster expansions of groups of operators (1.2) in terms of operators interpreted as their cumulants. For this end on sequences of one-parametric mappings

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = (0, \mathbf{u}_1(t), \dots, \mathbf{u}_n(t), \dots)$$

we define the following \star -product [90]

$$(\mathfrak{u}(t)\star\widetilde{\mathfrak{u}}(t))_{s}(1,\ldots,s) = \sum_{Y\subset(1,\ldots,s)} \mathfrak{u}_{|Y|}(t,Y)\,\widetilde{\mathfrak{u}}_{s-|Y|}(t,(1,\ldots,s)\backslash Y),\qquad(2.4)$$

where $\sum_{Y \subset (1,...,s)}$ is the sum over all subsets Y of the set (1,...,s).

Using the definition of the \star -product (2.4), the dual cluster expansions of groups of operators (1.2) are represented by the mapping $\mathbb{E}xp_{\star}$ in the form

$$S(t) = \mathbb{E} \operatorname{xp}_{\star} \mathfrak{A}(t) = \mathbb{I} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \mathfrak{A}(t)^{\star n},$$

where $S(t) = (0, S_1(t, 1), \dots, S_n(t, 1, \dots, n), \dots)$ and $\mathbb{I} = (1, 0, \dots, 0, \dots)$. In component-wise form the dual cluster expansions are represented by the following recursive relations:

$$S_{s}(t, (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}), j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}) = \sum_{P: (\{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})\}, j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}} \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} \mathfrak{A}_{|X_{i}|}(t, X_{i}), \ n \ge 0, \quad (2.5)$$

where the set consisting of one element of indices $(1, \ldots, s) \setminus (j_1, \ldots, j_n)$ we denoted by the symbol $\{(1, \ldots, s) \setminus (j_1, \ldots, j_n)\}$ and the symbol $\sum_{\mathbf{P}}$ means the sum over all possible partitions \mathbf{P} of the set

$$(\{(1,\ldots,s)\setminus(j_1,\ldots,j_n)\},j_1,\ldots,j_n)$$

into $|\mathbf{P}|$ nonempty mutually disjoint subsets $X_i \subset (1, \ldots, s)$.

The solution of recursive relations (2.5) are represented by the inverse mapping $\mathbb{L}n_*$ in the form of the cumulant expansion

$$\mathfrak{A}(t) = \mathbb{L}\mathbf{n}_{\star}(\mathbb{I} + S(t)) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1}}{n} S(t)^{\star n}$$

Then the (1 + n)th-order dual cumulant of groups of operators (1.2) is defined by the following expansion:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t, \{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_1, \dots, j_n)\}, j_1, \dots, j_n) \doteq \\ \doteq \sum_{P: (\{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_1, \dots, j_n)\}, j_1, \dots, j_n) = \bigcup_i X_i} (|P| - 1)! \prod_{X_i \subset P} S_{|\theta(X_i)|}(t, \theta(X_i)), \quad (2.6)$$

where the above notation is used and the declusterization mapping θ is defined by the formula:

$$\theta(\{(1,\ldots,s)\backslash (j_1,\ldots,j_n)\}) = (1,\ldots,s)\backslash (j_1,\ldots,j_n)$$

The dual cumulants (2.6) of the first two orders have the form:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{A}_{1}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}) &= S_{s}(t, 1, \dots, s), \\ \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}(t, \{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j)\}, j) &= \\ &= S_{s}(t, 1, \dots, s) - S_{s-1}(t, (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j))S_{1}(t, j). \end{split}$$

If $b_s \in C_s$, then for (1 + n)th-order cumulant (2.6) of groups of operators (1.2) the estimate is valid

$$\|\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t)b_{s}\|_{\mathcal{C}_{s}} \leq \sum_{\mathbf{P}: \left(\{(1,\dots,s)\setminus(j_{1},\dots,j_{n})\},j_{1},\dots,j_{n}\right)=\bigcup_{i}X_{i}} (|\mathbf{P}|-1)!\|b_{s}\|_{\mathcal{C}_{s}} \leq \left(2.7\right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} \mathbf{s}(n+1,k)(k-1)!\|b_{s}\|_{\mathcal{C}_{s}} \leq n!e^{n+2}\|b_{s}\|_{\mathcal{C}_{s}},$$

where s(n + 1, k) are the Stirling numbers of the second kind. Then according to this estimate (2.7) for the generating operators of expansions (2.3) provided that $\gamma < e^{-1}$ the inequality valid

$$\|B(t)\|_{C_{\gamma}} \leq e^{2}(1-\gamma e)^{-1}\|B(0)\|_{C_{\gamma}}.$$
(2.8)

In fact, the following criterion holds.

Criterion. A solution of the Cauchy problem of the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1), (2.2) is represented by expansions (2.3) if and only if the generating operators of expansions (2.3) are solutions of cluster expansions (2.5) of the groups of operators (1.2) of the Liouville equations for hard spheres.

The necessity condition means that cluster expansions (2.5) hold for groups of operators (1.2). These recurrence relations are derived from definition (1.13) of reduced observables, provided that they are represented as expansions (2.3) for the solution of the Cauchy problem of the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1), (2.2).

The sufficient condition means that the infinitesimal generator of oneparameter mapping (2.3) coincides with the generator of the sequence of recurrence evolution equations (2.1). Indeed, in the space C_{γ} the following existence theorem is true [51].

Theorem. A non-perturbative solution of the Cauchy problem (2.1), (2.2) is represented by expansions (2.3) in which the generating operators are cumulants of the corresponding order (2.6) of groups of operators (1.2):

$$B_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \sum_{n=0}^{s} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{j_{1} \neq \dots \neq j_{n}=1}^{s} \sum_{P: (\{(1,\dots,s) \setminus (j_{1},\dots,j_{n})\}, j_{1},\dots,j_{n}) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}} \left((-1)^{|P|-1} (|P|-1)! \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} S_{|\theta(X_{i})|}(t, \theta(X_{i})) \times \right.$$

$$\times B_{s-n}^{0}(x_{1},\dots,x_{j_{1}-1},x_{j_{1}+1},\dots,x_{j_{n}-1},x_{j_{n}+1},\dots,x_{s}) \Big), s \ge 1.$$

$$(2.9)$$

Under the condition $\gamma < e^{-1}$ for initial data $B(0) \in C^0_{\gamma}$ of finite sequences of infinitely differentiable functions with compact supports sequence (2.9) is a unique global classical solution, and for arbitrary initial data $B(0) \in C_{\gamma}$ is a unique global generalized solution.

We note that the one component sequences $B^{(1)}(0) = (0, b_1(x_1), 0, ...)$ of reduced observables correspond to the additive-type observable, and the sequences

$$B^{(k)}(0) = (0, \dots, b_k(x_1, \dots, x_k), 0, \dots)$$

of reduced observables correspond to the k-ary-type observables [10].

If initial data (2.2) is specified by the additive-type reduced observable, then the structure of solution expansion (2.9) is simplified and attains the form

$$B_s^{(1)}(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \mathfrak{A}_s(t, 1, \dots, s) \sum_{j=1}^s b_1(x_j), \quad s \ge 1,$$
(2.10)

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_s(t)$ is the *sth*-order cumulant (2.6) of the groups of operators (1.2).

An example of the additive-type observables is a number of particles, i.e., the sequence $N^{(1)}(0) = (0, 1, 0, ...)$, then

$$N_{s}^{(1)}(t) = \mathfrak{A}_{s}(t, 1, \dots, s)s = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{P}: (1, \dots, s) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}}} (-1)^{|\mathbf{P}| - 1} (|\mathbf{P}| - 1)! \sum_{j=1}^{s} 1 = \sum_{k=1}^{s} (-1)^{k-1} \mathbf{s}(s, k) (k-1)! s = s \delta_{s,1} = N_{s}^{(1)}(0),$$

where s(s, k) are the Stirling numbers of the second kind and $\delta_{s,1}$ is a Kronecker symbol. Consequently, the observable of a number of hard spheres is an integral of motion and, in particular, the average number of particles is preserving in time.

In the case of initial k-ary-type, $k \ge 2$, reduced observables solution expansion (2.9) takes the form

$$B_{s}^{(k)}(t) = 0, \quad 1 \leq s < k,$$

$$B_{s}^{(k)}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \frac{1}{(s-k)!} \times \times \sum_{\substack{j_{1} \neq \dots \neq j_{s-k} = 1 \\ k \in k}}^{s} \mathfrak{A}_{1+s-k}(t, \{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{s-k})\}, j_{1}, \dots, j_{s-k}) \times \times b_{k}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{j_{1}-1}, x_{j_{1}+1}, \dots, x_{j_{s}-k-1}, x_{j_{s}-k+1}, \dots, x_{s}),$$

$$s \geq k,$$

$$(2.11)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+s-k}(t)$ is the (1+s-k)th-order cumulant (2.6) of the groups of operators (1.2).

We emphasize that cluster expansions (2.5) of the groups of operators (1.2) underlie of the classification of possible solution representations of the Cauchy problem (2.1), (2.2) of the dual BBGKY hierarchy. Indeed, using cluster expansions (2.5) of the groups of operators (1.2), other solution representations can be constructed.

For example, let us express the cumulants $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t)$, $n \ge 2$, of groups of operators (1.2) with respect to the 1*st*-order and 2*nd*-order cumulants. The

equalities are true:

where $\sum_{\emptyset \neq Y \subset (j_1, \dots, j_n)}$ is a sum over all nonempty subsets $Y \subset (j_1, \dots, j_n)$. Then, taking into account the identity

$$\sum_{\substack{P: (j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_i X_i \\ P: (j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_i X_i}} \sum_{i=1}^{|P|} \mathfrak{A}_1(t, \{X_i\}) B^0_{s-n}((x_1, \dots, x_s) \setminus (x_{j_1}, \dots, x_{j_n})) =$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{P: (j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_i X_i \\ P: (j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_i X_i}} (2.12)$$

and the equalities

$$\sum_{\mathbf{P}: (j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_i X_i} (-1)^{|\mathbf{P}|} |\mathbf{P}|! = (-1)^{|(j_1, \dots, j_n) \setminus Y|}, \ Y \subset (j_1, \dots, j_n),$$
(2.13)

for solution expansions (2.3) of the dual BBGKY hierarchy we derive the following representation:

$$B_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \mathfrak{A}_{1}(t, \{1, \dots, s\})B_{s}^{0}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) + \sum_{n=1}^{s} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{j_{1} \neq \dots \neq j_{n}=1}^{s} \sum_{\substack{Y \subset (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}), \\ Y \neq \emptyset}} (-1)^{|(j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}) \setminus Y|} \mathfrak{A}_{2}(t, \{j_{1}, \dots, j_{n}\}, \{Y\}) \times B_{s-n}^{0}((x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}}, \dots, x_{j_{n}})), s \ge 1,$$

where notations accepted above are used.

Taking into account that initial reduced observables depend only from the certain phase space arguments, we deduce the reduced representation of expansions (2.9):

$$B(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{n-k} \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} (\mathfrak{a}^{+})^{n-k} S(t) (\mathfrak{a}^{+})^{k} B(0) =$$

= $S(t)B(0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} [\dots [S(t), \mathfrak{a}^{+}], \dots, \mathfrak{a}^{+}] B(0) =$ (2.14)
= $e^{-\mathfrak{a}^{+}} S(t) e^{\mathfrak{a}^{+}} B(0).$

Therefore, in component-wise form the generating operators of these expansions represented as expansions (2.3) are the following reduced cumulants of groups of operators (1.2):

$$U_{1+n}(t, \{1, \dots, s-n\}, s-n+1, \dots, s) =$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} S_{s-k}(t, 1, \dots, s-k).$$
(2.15)

Indeed, solutions of the recursive relations (2.5) with respect to firstorder cumulants can be represented as expansions in terms of cumulants acting on variables on which the initial reduced observables depend, and in terms of cumulants not acting on these variables

$$\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t,\{(1,\ldots,s)\backslash(j_1,\ldots,j_n)\},j_1,\ldots,j_n) = \\ = \sum_{Y \subset (j_1,\ldots,j_n)} \mathfrak{A}_1(t,\{(1,\ldots,s)\backslash((j_1,\ldots,j_n) \cup Y)\}) \times \\ \times \sum_{Y \subset (j_1,\ldots,j_n)} (-1)^{|\mathbf{P}|} |\mathbf{P}|! \prod_{i=1}^{|\mathbf{P}|} \mathfrak{A}_1(t,\{X_i\}),$$

where $\sum_{Y \subset (j_1, \dots, j_n)}$ is the sum over all possible subsets $Y \subset (j_1, \dots, j_n)$. Then taking into account the identity (2.13) and the equalities (2.12) we derive expansions (2.14) over reduced cumulants (2.15).

We note that traditionally the solution of the BBGKY hierarchy for states of many hard spheres is represented by perturbation series [14,29,83]. The expansions (2.14) can also be represented as expansions (iterations) of perturbation theory [10]:

$$B(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt_1 \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_n S(t-t_1) [\mathcal{L}, \mathfrak{a}^+] \times S(t_1-t_2) \cdots S(t_{n-1}-t_n) [\mathcal{L}, \mathfrak{a}^+] S(t_n) B(0).$$

Indeed, as a result of applying of analogs of the Duhamel equation to generating operators (2.6) of expansions (2.3) we derive in component-wise form, for examples,

$$U_{1}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}) = S_{s}(t, 1, \dots, s),$$

$$U_{2}(t, \{(1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1})\}, j_{1}) =$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} S_{s}(t - t_{1}, 1, \dots, s) \sum_{\substack{j_{2} = 1, \\ j_{2} \neq j_{1}}}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}(j_{1}, j_{2}) S_{s-1}(t_{1}, (1, \dots, s) \setminus j_{1}).$$

Recall that the mean value functional (1.11) exists if $B(0) \in C_{\gamma}$ and $F(0) \in L^{1}_{\alpha}$. In the case of the observable of a number of hard spheres $N^{(1)}(t) = (0, 1, 0, \ldots)$, this means that

$$\left| (N^{(1)}(t), F(0)) \right| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} F_1^0(x_1) dx_1 \right| \leq \|F_1^0\|_{L_1^1} < \infty.$$
(2.16)

Consequently, the states of a finite number of hard spheres are described by sequences of functions from the space L^1_{α} . To describe an infinite number of hard spheres, it is necessary to consider reduced distribution functions from appropriate function spaces, for example, from the space of sequences of bounded functions with respect of the configuration variables [58,79,83].

2.2. The BBGKY hierarchy for reduced distribution functions. As mentioned already, the evolution of systems of many particles is traditionally described as the evolution of the state of a system based on the representation of the mean value functional for observables (1.14). In this case, the sequence of reduced distribution functions is determined by the hierarchy of evolution equations, known as the BBGKY hierarchy, whose generator is the operator adjoint to the generator of the hierarchy of evolution equations for reduced observables (2.1) in the sense of mean value functional (1.11).

The evolution of sequence (1.15) of reduced distribution functions from the space L^1_{α} is governed by the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy for many hard spheres [6,14,83]:

$$\frac{d}{dt}F(t) = \mathcal{L}^*F(t) + \left[\mathfrak{a}, \mathcal{L}^*\right]F(t), \qquad (2.17)$$

$$F(t)\big|_{t=0} = F(0), \tag{2.18}$$

where the symbol $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the commutator of operator (1.10) and of the Liouville operator (1.7), which is the generator of the isometric group

of operators (1.6). Thus, in evolution equation (2.17), the second term has the following component-wise form:

$$\left(\left[\mathfrak{a},\mathcal{L}^*\right]f\right)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \\ = \sum_{i=1}^s \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_{s+1} \mathcal{L}^*_{\text{int}}(i,s+1) f_{s+1}(t,x_1,\ldots,x_{s+1}), \quad s \ge 1.$$

For t > 0 in a one-dimensional space, i.e., for gas of hard rods, this term of a generator has the form [82]:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} dx_{s+1} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i,s+1) f_{s+1}(t) =$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{s} \int_{0}^{\infty} dP P \Big(f_{s+1}(t,x_{1},\ldots,q_{i},p_{i}-P,\ldots,x_{s},q_{i}-\sigma,p_{i}) - f_{s+1}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s},q_{i}-\sigma,p_{i}+P) + f_{s+1}(t,x_{1},\ldots,q_{i},p_{i}+P,\ldots,x_{s},q_{i}+\sigma,p_{i}) - f_{s+1}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s},q_{i}+\sigma,p_{i}-P) \Big), \qquad (2.19)$$

and for t < 0 this collision integral has the corresponding form [83].

It should be noted that for the system of a fixed, finite number of hard spheres, the BBGKY hierarchy is an equation system for a finite sequence of reduced distribution functions. Such an equation system is equivalent to the Liouville equation for the distribution function, which describes all possible states of finitely many hard spheres. For a system of an infinite number of hard spheres, the BBGKY hierarchy is an infinite chain of evolution equations, which can be derived as the thermodynamic limit of the BBGKY hierarchy of a fixed finite number of hard spheres [14]. We note that since a sequence of functions can be determined based on a generating functional, the corresponding hierarchy of evolution equations can also be formulated as the evolution equation for such a generating functional [44].

A non-perturbative solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17),(2.18) is a sequence of reduced distribution functions represented by the following expansions [52,67]:

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathfrak{A}^{*}(t)F(0))_{s}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) =$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} \mathfrak{A}^{*}_{1+n}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) \times$$

$$\times F^{0}_{s+n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n}, \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.20)

where the mappings $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^*(t)$, $n \ge 0$, are the generating operators which are represented by the cumulant expansions with respect to the group

$$S^*(t) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n^*(t)$$

of operators (1.6).

Using the definition of the \star -product (2.4), the cluster expansions of the groups of operators (1.6) are represented by the mapping $\mathbb{E}xp_{\star}$ in the form

$$S^*(t) = \mathbb{E} \operatorname{xp}_{\star} \mathfrak{A}^*(t).$$

In component-wise form cluster expansions are represented by the following recursive relations:

$$S_{s+n}^{*}(t, 1, \dots, s, s+1, \dots, s+n) =$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{P: (\{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i} \ X_{i} \subset P}} \prod_{\substack{X_{i} \subset P}} \mathfrak{A}_{|X_{i}|}^{*}(t, X_{i}), \quad n \ge 0, \quad (2.21)$$

where the set consisting of one element of indices $(1, \ldots, s)$ we denoted by the symbol $\{(1, \ldots, s)\}$ and the symbol \sum_{P} means the sum over all possible partitions P of the set

$$(\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n)$$

into $|\mathbf{P}|$ nonempty mutually disjoint subsets X_i .

The solution of recursive relations (2.21) are represented by the inverse mapping $\mathbb{L}n_{\star}$ in the form of the cumulant expansion

$$\mathfrak{A}^*(t) = \mathbb{L}\mathbf{n}_{\star}(\mathbb{I} + S^*(t)).$$

Then the (1+n)th-order cumulant of the group $S^*(t) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n^*(t)$ of operators (1.6) is defined by the following expansion:

$$\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n) \doteq \\ \doteq \sum_{P:(\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n)=\bigcup_{i}X_{i}} (|P|-1)! \prod_{X_{i}\subset P} S_{|\theta(X_{i})|}^{*}(t,\theta(X_{i})), \quad (2.22)$$

where the declusterization mapping θ is defined by the formula:

$$\theta(\{1,\ldots,s\}) = (1,\ldots,s)$$

and the above notation is used. The simplest examples of cumulants (2.22) of the groups of operators (1.6) have the form:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\}) &\doteq S_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s), \\ \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}^{*}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1) &\doteq S_{s+1}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s+1) - S_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s)S_{1}^{*}(t,s+1), \\ \mathfrak{A}_{1+2}^{*}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,s+2) &\doteq S_{s+2}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s+2) - \\ &- S_{s+1}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s+1)S_{1}^{*}(t,s+2) - S_{s+1}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s,s+2)S_{1}^{*}(t,s+1) - \\ &- S_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s)S_{2}^{*}(t,s+1,s+2) + 2!S_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s)S_{1}^{*}(t,s+1)S_{1}^{*}(t,s+2) \end{aligned}$$

If $f_s \in L_s^1$, then taking into account that $\|S_n^*(t)\|_{L_n^1} = 1$, for the (1+n)th-order cumulant (2.22) the following estimate is valid:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t)f_{s+n}\|_{L^{1}_{s+n}} &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{P}: (\{1,\dots,s\},s+1,\dots,s+n)=\bigcup_{i}X_{i}} (|\mathbf{P}|-1)! \|f_{s+n}\|_{L^{1}_{s+n}} \leq \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} \mathbf{s}(n+1,k)(k-1)! \|f_{s+n}\|_{L^{1}_{s+n}} \leq n! e^{n+2} \|f_{s+n}\|_{L^{1}_{s+n}}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.23)$$

where s(n+1,k) are the Stirling numbers of the second kind.

Then, according to this estimate (2.23) for the generating operators of expansions (2.20), provided that $\alpha > e$ series (2.20) converges on the norm of the space L^1_{α} , and the inequality holds

$$||F(t)||_{L^{1}_{\alpha}} \leq c_{\alpha} ||F(0)||_{L^{1}_{\alpha}},$$

where $c_{\alpha} = e^2 (1 - \frac{e}{\alpha})^{-1}$. The parameter α can be interpreted as the value inverse to the average number of hard spheres.

In fact, the following criterion holds.

Criterion. A solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17), (2.18) is represented by expansions (2.20) if and only if the generating operators of expansions (2.20) are solutions of cluster expansions (2.21) of the groups of operators (1.6).

The necessity condition means that cluster expansions (2.21) are take place for groups of operators (1.6). These recurrence relations are derived from definition (1.15) of reduced distribution functions, provided that they are represented as expansions (2.20) for the solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17), (2.18).

The sufficient condition means that the infinitesimal generator of oneparameter mapping (2.20) coincides with the generator of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17). Indeed, in the space L^1_{α} the following existence theorem is true [65]. **Theorem.** If $\alpha > e$, a non-perturbative solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17),(2.18) is represented by series expansions (2.20) in which the generating operators are cumulants of the corresponding order (2.22) of groups of operators (1.6):

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} \sum_{P: (\{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}} (-1)^{|P|-1} (|P|-1)! \times \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} S^{*}_{|\theta(X_{i})|}(t, \theta(X_{i})) F^{0}_{s+n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n}, \ s \ge 1.$$

$$(2.24)$$

For initial data $F(0) \in L_0^1$ of finite sequences of infinitely differentiable functions with compact supports sequence (2.24) is a unique global classical solution and for arbitrary initial data $F(0) \in L_{\alpha}^1$ is a unique global generalized solution.

We observe that cluster expansions (2.21) of the groups of operators (1.6) underlie the classification of possible solution representations (2.20) of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17),(2.18). In a particular case, non-perturbative solution (2.24) of the BBGKY hierarchy for many hard spheres can be represented in the form of the perturbation (iteration) series as a result of applying analogs of the Duhamel equation to cumulants (2.22) of groups of operators.

Indeed, let us put groups of operators in the expression of cumulant (2.22) into a new order with respect to the groups of operators which act on the variables (x_1, \ldots, x_s)

$$\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) = \\ = \sum_{\substack{Y \subset (s+1, \dots, s+n) \\ P: (s+1, \dots, s+n) \setminus Y = \bigcup_{i} Y_{i}}} S_{|Y_{i}|}^{*}(t, Y_{i})$$
(2.25)

If $Y_i \subset (s+1,\ldots,s+n)$, then for the integrable functions F_{s+n}^0 and the unitary group of operators $S^*(t) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n^*(t)$ the equality is valid

$$\int dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \prod_{Y_i \subset \mathcal{P}} S^*_{|Y_i|}(t;Y_i) F^0_{s+n}(x_1, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \\ = \int dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} F^0_{s+n}(x_1, \dots, x_{s+n}).$$

(

Then, taking into account the validity for arbitrary $Y \subset (s+1, \ldots, s+n)$ the following equality:

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{P}: (s+1,\ldots,s+n) \backslash Y = \bigcup Y_i}} (-1)^{|\mathbf{P}|} |\mathbf{P}|! = (-1)^{|(s+1,\ldots,s+n) \backslash Y|},$$

according to expression (2.25) for series expansions (2.24) of the BBGKY hierarchy, we obtain

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} U_{1+n}^{*}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) \times \times F_{s+n}^{0}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n}, \ s \ge 1,$$

$$(2.26)$$

where $U_{1+n}^*(t)$ is the (1+n)th-order reduced cumulant of the groups of operators (1.6)

$$U_{1+n}^{*}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) = \sum_{\substack{Y \subset (s+1, \dots, s+n) \\ Y \subset (s+1, \dots, s+n)}} S_{|(1, \dots, s) \cup Y|}^{*}(t, (1, \dots, s) \cup Y).$$

Using the symmetry property of initial reduced distribution functions, for integrand functions in every term of series (2.26) the following equalities are valid

$$\sum_{Y \subset (s+1,\dots,s+n)} (-1)^{|(s+1,\dots,s+n)\setminus Y)|} S^*_{|(1,\dots,s)\cup Y|}(t,(1,\dots,s)\cup Y)F^0_{s+n} =$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \sum_{i_1 < \dots < i_{n-k} = s+1}^{s+n} S^*_{s+n-k}(t,1,\dots,s,i_1,\dots,i_{n-k})F^0_{s+n} =$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} S^*_{s+n-k}(t,1,\dots,s+n-k)F^0_{s+n}(x_1,\dots,x_{s+n}).$$

Thus, the (1 + n)th-order reduced cumulant represents by the following expansion [80]:

$$U_{1+n}^{*}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) =$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} S_{s+n-k}^{*}(t, 1, \dots, s+n-k),$

and consequently, we derive the representation for series expansions of a solution of the BBGKY hierarchy [82] which is can be written down in

terms of an analogue of the annihilation operator (1.10):

$$F(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!} \mathfrak{a}^{n-k} S^{*}(t) \mathfrak{a}^{k} F(0) =$$

= $S^{*}(t)F(0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left[\underbrace{\mathfrak{a}, \dots, [\mathfrak{a}, S^{*}(t)] \dots}_{\text{n-times}} \right] F(0) =$ (2.27)
= $e^{\mathfrak{a}} S^{*}(t) e^{-\mathfrak{a}} F(0).$

Finally, in view of the validity of the equality

$$S^*(t-\tau)[\mathfrak{a},\mathcal{L}^*]S^*(\tau)F(0) = \frac{d}{d\tau}S^*(t-\tau)\mathfrak{a}S^*(\tau)F(0),$$

expansion (2.27) is represented in the form of perturbation (iteration) series of the BBGKY hierarchy (2.17) for many hard spheres

$$F(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \dots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_{n} S^{*}(t-t_{1}) [\mathfrak{a}, \mathcal{L}^{*}] S^{*}(t_{1}-t_{2}) \dots \times S^{*}(t_{n-1}-t_{n}) [\mathfrak{a}, \mathcal{L}^{*}] S^{*}(t_{n}) F(0),$$

or in component-wise form [6, 58, 79]:

$$F_{s}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_{n} \int dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} S_{s}^{*}(t-t_{1}) \times \\ \times \sum_{j_{1}=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(j_{1},s+1) S_{s+1}^{*}(t_{1}-t_{2}) \cdots S_{s+n-1}^{*}(t_{n-1}-t_{n}) \times \\ \times \sum_{j_{n}=1}^{s+n-1} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(j_{n},s+n) S_{s+n}^{*}(t_{n}) F_{s+n}^{0}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{s+n}), \ s \ge 1.$$

$$(2.28)$$

Let us make some comments concerning the existence of solutions to the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy for initial data from various function spaces.

In the spaces of sequences of integrable functions, the existence and uniqueness of a global in time non-perturbative solution was proved in the papers [67, 82] (see also book [14]). It should be noted that the first few terms of the (2.24) series were established in papers [17, 18, 74, 75] as an analog of cluster expansions of the reduced equilibrium distribution functions.

The BBGKY hierarchy describes both the non-equilibrium and equilibrium states. Non-equilibrium states are described by the solution of the initial value problem for this hierarchy, and, correspondingly, equilibrium states are solutions of the steady BBGKY hierarchy. The existence of equilibrium solutions to the steady BBGKY hierarchy has been reviewed in books [14,64].

As is known, to describe the evolution of a state of infinitely many particles, the suitable functional space is the space of sequences of functions bounded with respect to the configuration variables and decreasing with respect to the momentum ones; in particular, the equilibrium distribution functions belong to this space. For the solution extension from the space of sequences of integrable functions to this space, the method of the thermodynamic limit was developed [14,57,58].

For one-dimensional many-particle systems with short-range potential, using the method of interaction region developed by Petrina [81] for solution representation (2.26), the existence theorem for the BBGKY hierarchy was proved for the first time in this functional space. By a similar method for the initial reduced distribution functions from such a space, the existence of a mean value functional for solution (2.9) of the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1) was established in the paper [91].

As mentioned above, for a solution representation of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres is widely used in the representation as a series of perturbation theory (2.28) (an iteration series over the evolution of the state of selected groups of particles) [6,15,58,79,95]. In this form, the solution is applied to construct its Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics, which is governed by the Boltzmann kinetic equation (see section 3.1). The justification of a solution represented as an iteration series for hard spheres is based on giving a rigorous mathematical meaning to every term of the iteration series and on the proof of its convergence. The main difficulty in this problem is that the phase trajectories of particles for a system with a singular interaction potential are defined almost everywhere in the phase space, and initial distribution functions in the iteration series are concentrated on lower-dimensional manifolds. It is necessary to ensure that the trajectories are defined on these manifolds. This problem was completely solved in the papers [61,83].

In the case of infinitely many hard spheres a local in time solution [58] of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy is represented by iteration series for arbitrary initial data from the space of sequences of functions bounded with respect to configuration variables and for initial data close to the equilibrium state it is a global in time solution [83]. For such initial data in a one-dimensional space for hard sphere system the existence of global in time solution was proved in the paper [34].

In addition, we remark that the correlation decay property, known as the Bogolyubov correlation weakening principle [6], for the solution of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres was proved in [68].

2.3. The Liouville hierarchy for correlation functions. An alternative approach to the description of a state of finitely many hard spheres consists in the employment of functions determined by the cluster expansions of the probability distribution functions. The solutions to such cluster expansions are cumulants (semi-invariants) of probability distribution functions and are interpreted, from a physical point of view, as correlations of a state or correlation functions. The evolution of correlation functions is governed by the so-called Liouville hierarchy [31]. Historically, there have been several approaches to describing correlations in many-particle systems. Among them, we mention the well-known approach to the dynamics of correlations by I. Prigogine [86] and R. Balescu [1] and its applications in plasma theory.

Further, it will be established that the constructed dynamics of correlation underlie the description of the dynamics of infinitely many hard spheres governed by the BBGKY hierarchy for reduced distribution functions or the hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations for reduced correlation functions, i.e., of the cumulants of reduced distribution functions.

We introduce a sequence of correlation functions $g(t) = (1, g_1(t, x_1), \ldots, g_s(t, x_1, \ldots, x_s), \ldots)$ by means of cluster expansions of the probability distribution functions $D(t) = (1, D_1(t, x_1), \ldots, D_n(t, x_1, \ldots, x_n), \ldots)$, defined on the set of allowed configurations $\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n$ as follows:

$$D_{n}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) = g_{n}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) + \sum_{\substack{P:(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}, \\ |P| > 1}} \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} g_{|X_{i}|}(t, X_{i}), \quad n \ge 1, \quad (2.29)$$

where $\sum_{P:(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=\bigcup_i X_i, |P|>1}$ is the sum over all possible partitions P of the set of the arguments (x_1,\ldots,x_n) into |P|>1 nonempty mutually disjoint subsets $X_i \subset (x_1,\ldots,x_n)$.

On the set $\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n$ solutions of recursion relations (2.29) are given by the following expansions:

$$g_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = D_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) + + \sum_{\substack{\mathrm{P}:(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}, \\ |\mathrm{P}| > 1}} (|\mathrm{P}| - 1)! \prod_{X_{i} \subset \mathrm{P}} D_{|X_{i}|}(t, X_{i}), \ s \ge 1.$$
(2.30)

The structure of expansions (2.30) is such that the correlation functions can be treated as cumulants (semi-invariants) of the probability distribution functions [24]. Such an interpretation of these functions is due to the fact that the probability distribution function of statistically independent hard spheres on allowed configurations is described by the product of single-particle correlation functions (probability distribution functions of each particle):

$$g_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \prod_{i=1}^s g_1(t, x_i) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3s} \setminus \mathbb{W}_s} \delta_{s, 1}, \ s \ge 1.$$

The evolution of the sequence of correlation functions (2.30) of many hard spheres is determined by the Cauchy problem of the weak formulation of the Liouville hierarchy of the following evolution equations [53]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{s}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) = \mathcal{L}_{s}^{*}(1,\ldots,s)g_{s}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) + \\
+ \sum_{P:\,(x_{1},\ldots,x_{s})=X_{1}\bigcup X_{2}}\sum_{i_{1}\in\hat{X}_{1}}\sum_{i_{2}\in\hat{X}_{2}}\mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i_{1},i_{2})g_{|X_{1}|}(t,X_{1})g_{|X_{2}|}(t,X_{2}),$$
(2.31)

$$g_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) \big|_{t=0} = g_s^0(x_1, \dots, x_s), \quad s \ge 1,$$
 (2.32)

where $\sum_{P:(x_1,\ldots,x_s)=X_1 \bigcup X_2}$ is the sum over all possible partitions P of the set (x_1,\ldots,x_s) into two nonempty mutually disjoint subsets X_1 and X_2 , the symbol \hat{X}_i means the set of indexes of the set X_i of phase space coordinates and the operator \mathcal{L}_s^* is defined on the subspace $L_0^1 \subset L^1$ by formulas (1.7). It should be noted that the Liouville hierarchy (2.31) is the evolution recurrence equations set.

For $t \ge 0$ we give a few examples of recurrence equations set (2.31) for a system of hard spheres:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{1}(t,x_{1}) &= -\langle p_{1}, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{1}} \rangle g_{1}(t,x_{1}), \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) &= -\sum_{j=1}^{2} \langle p_{j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{j}} \rangle g_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) + \\ &+ \sigma^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}_{+}} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{1}-p_{2}) \rangle \Big(g_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1}^{*},q_{2},p_{2}^{*}) \delta(q_{1}-q_{2}+\sigma\eta) - \\ &- g_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) \delta(q_{1}-q_{2}-\sigma\eta) \Big) + \\ &+ \sigma^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}_{+}} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{1}-p_{2}) \rangle \Big(g_{1}(t,q_{1},p_{1}^{*}) g_{1}(t,q_{2},p_{2}^{*}) \delta(q_{1}-q_{2}+\sigma\eta) - \\ &- g_{1}(t,x_{1}) g_{1}(t,x_{2}) \delta(q_{1}-q_{2}-\sigma\eta) \Big), \end{split}$$

where it was used notations accepted above in definition (1.7).

Thus, in terms of correlation functions (2.30), the evolution of the states of a finite number of hard spheres is described by an equivalent method compared to probability distribution functions, namely, within the framework of the dynamics of correlations.

We note that because the Liouville hierarchy (2.31) is the recurrence evolution equations set, we can construct a solution of the Cauchy problem (2.31),(2.32), integrating each equation of the hierarchy as the inhomogeneous Liouville equation. For example, as a result of the integration of the first two equations of the Liouville hierarchy (2.31), we obtain the following equalities:

$$g_{1}(t, x_{1}) = S_{1}(-t, 1)g_{1}^{0}(x_{1}),$$

$$g_{2}(t, 1, 2) = S_{2}(-t, 1, 2)g_{2}^{0}(x_{1}, x_{2}) +$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1}S_{2}(t_{1} - t, 1, 2)\mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1, 2)S_{1}(-t_{1}, 1)S_{1}(-t_{1}, 2)g_{1}^{0}(x_{1})g_{1}^{0}(x_{2}).$$

Then for the corresponding term on the right-hand side of the second equality, an analog of the Duhamel equation holds

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt_{1}S_{2}(t_{1}-t,1,2)\mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,2)S_{1}(-t_{1},1)S_{1}(-t_{1},2) =$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{t} dt_{1}\frac{d}{dt_{1}} \left(S_{2}(t_{1}-t,1,2)S_{1}(-t_{1},1)S_{1}(-t_{1},2)\right) =$$

$$= S_{2}(-t,1,2) - S_{1}(-t,1)S_{1}(-t,2) = \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{*}(t,1,2),$$

where $\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{*}(t)$ is the second-order cumulant (2.22) of groups of operators (1.6). As a result of similar transformations for s > 2, the solution of the Cauchy problem (2.31),(2.32), constructed using an iterative procedure, can be represented as expansions in cumulants of groups of operators (1.6).

If the initial state is specified by the sequence

$$g(0) = (1, g_1^0(x_1), \dots, g_n^0(x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots),$$

of correlation functions $g_n^0 \in L_n^1$, $n \ge 1$, then the evolution of all possible states, i.e., the sequence

$$g(t) = (1, g_1(t, x_1), \dots, g_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s), \dots)$$

of the correlation functions $g_s(t), s \ge 1$, is represented by the following expansions [53]:

$$g_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) =$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{P: (x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \bigcup_{j} X_{j}}} \mathfrak{A}_{|P|}^{*}(t, \{\hat{X}_{1}\}, \dots, \{\hat{X}_{|P|}\}) \prod_{X_{j} \subset P} g_{|X_{j}|}^{0}(X_{j}), \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.33)

where the symbol $\sum_{P:(x_1,...,x_s)=\bigcup_j X_j} denotes the sum over all possible par$ $titions P of the set <math>(x_1,...,x_s)$ into |P| nonempty mutually disjoint subsets X_j , the symbol \hat{X} means the set of indexes of the set X of phase space coordinates and the set $(\{\hat{X}_1\},\ldots,\{\hat{X}_{|P|}\})$ consists of elements that are subsets $\hat{X}_j \subset (1,\ldots,s)$, i.e., $|(\{\hat{X}_1\},\ldots,\{\hat{X}_{|P|}\})| = |P|$. The generating operator $\mathfrak{A}^*_{|P|}(t)$ of expansions (2.33) is the |P|th-order cumulant of the groups of operators (1.6) which is defined by the expansion

$$\mathfrak{A}^{*}_{|\mathbf{P}|}(t, \{\hat{X}_{1}\}, \dots, \{\hat{X}_{|\mathbf{P}|}\}) \doteq \sum_{\mathbf{P}': (\{\hat{X}_{1}\}, \dots, \{\hat{X}_{|\mathbf{P}|}\}) = \bigcup_{k} Z_{k}} (|\mathbf{P}'| - 1)! \prod_{Z_{k} \subset \mathbf{P}'} S^{*}_{|\theta(Z_{k})|}(t, \theta(Z_{k})), \quad (2.34)$$

where the symbol θ is the declusterization mapping: $\theta(\{\hat{X}_i\}) \doteq (\hat{X}_i)$. The simplest examples of correlation functions (2.33) are given as follows:

$$g_1(t, x_1) = \mathfrak{A}_1^*(t, 1)g_1^0(x_1),$$

$$g_2(t, x_1, x_2) = \mathfrak{A}_1^*(t, \{1, 2\})g_2^0(x_1, x_2) + \mathfrak{A}_2^*(t, 1, 2)g_1^0(x_1)g_1^0(x_2).$$

The structure of expansions (2.33) is established as a result of the permutation of the terms of cumulant expansions (2.30) for correlation functions and cluster expansions (2.29) for initial probability distribution functions. Thus, the cumulant origin of correlation functions induces the cumulant structure of their dynamics (2.33).

In particular, in the absence of correlations between hard spheres at the initial moment (initial state satisfying the chaos condition [14,95]) the sequence of the initial correlation functions on allowed configurations has the form $g^{(c)}(0) = (0, g_1^0(x_1), 0, \ldots, 0, \ldots)$. In terms of a sequence of the probability distribution functions, the chaos condition means that initial data is specified in the form

$$D^{(c)}(0) = \left(1, D_1^0(x_1), D_1^0(x_1)D_1^0(x_2)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^6 \setminus \mathbb{W}_2}, \dots, \prod_{i=1}^n D_1^0(x_i)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n}, \dots\right),$$

where the function $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3n}\setminus\mathbb{W}_n}$ is the Heaviside step function of allowed configurations of *n* hard spheres. In this case for $(x_1, \ldots, x_s) \in \mathbb{R}^{3s} \times (\mathbb{R}^{3s}\setminus\mathbb{W}_s)$ expansions (2.33) are represented as follows:

$$g_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \mathfrak{A}_s^*(t, 1, \dots, s) \prod_{i=1}^s g_1^0(x_i) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3s} \setminus \mathbb{W}_s}, \quad s \ge 1, \qquad (2.35)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{s}^{*}(t)$ of this expansion is the *sth*-order cumulant of groups of operators (1.6) defined by the expansion

$$\mathfrak{A}_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s) = \sum_{\mathbf{P}: (1,\ldots,s) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}} (-1)^{|\mathbf{P}|-1} (|\mathbf{P}|-1)! \prod_{X_{i} \subset \mathbf{P}} S_{|X_{i}|}^{*}(t,X_{i}), \qquad (2.36)$$

with notations accepted in formula (2.33). From the structure of series (2.35) it is clear that in case of the absence of correlations at the initial instant the correlations generated by the dynamics of a system of hard spheres are completely determined by cumulants (2.36) of the groups of operators (1.6).

We note that in the case of initial data $g^{(c)}(0)$ expansions (2.35) can be rewritten in another representation that explains their physical meaning. Indeed, for n = 1 we have

$$g_1(t, x_1) = \mathfrak{A}_1^*(t, 1)g_1^0(x_1) = g_1^0(p_1, q_1 - p_1t).$$

Then, according to formula (2.35) and the definition of the first-order cumulant $\mathfrak{A}_1^*(t) = S_1(-t)$, and its inverse group of operators $S_1^{-1}(-t) = S_1(t)$, we express the correlation functions $g_s(t), s \ge 2$, in terms of the one-particle correlation function $g_1(t)$. Therefore, for $s \ge 2$ expansions (2.35) are represented in the following form:

$$g_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_s^*(t, 1, \dots, s) \prod_{i=1}^s g_1(t, x_i), \quad s \ge 2,$$

where $\widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{s}^{*}(t, 1, ..., s)$ is the *s*-order cumulant (2.36) of the scattering operators

$$\widehat{S}_n(t,1,\ldots,n) \doteq S_n(-t,1,\ldots,n) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n} \prod_{i=1}^n S_1(t,i), \quad n \ge 1.$$

On the subspace $L_{n,0}^1$ a generator of the scattering operator $\hat{S}_n(t, 1, \ldots, n)$ is determined by the operator:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\widehat{S}_n(t,1,\ldots,n)\mid_{t=0} = \sum_{j_1 < j_2 = 1}^n \mathcal{L}_{int}^*(j_1,j_2),$$

where for $t \ge 0$ the operator $\mathcal{L}_{int}^*(j_1, j_2)$ is defined by formula (1.7).

If $g_n^0 \in L_n^1$, $n \ge 1$, one-parameter mapping (2.33) generates strong continuous group of nonlinear operators

$$\mathcal{G}(t;1,\ldots,s\mid g(0)) \doteq g_s(t,x_1,\ldots,x_s), \qquad (2.37)$$

and it is bounded, and the following estimate holds:

$$\left\|\mathcal{G}(t;1,\ldots,s\mid g)\right\|_{L^1_s} \leqslant s!c^s,$$

where

$$c \equiv \max\left(1, \max_{P:(1,...,s)=\bigcup_{i}X_{i}} \|g_{|X_{i}|}\|_{L^{1}_{|X_{i}|}}\right).$$

For $g_n \in L^1_{n,0}$, $n \ge 1$, the infinitesimal generator of this group of nonlinear operators has the following structure

$$\mathcal{L}(1,\ldots,s \mid g) \doteq \mathcal{L}_{s}^{*}(1,\ldots,s)g_{s}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) + \\ + \sum_{\mathrm{P}:\,(x_{1},\ldots,x_{s})=X_{1}\bigcup X_{2}}\sum_{i_{1}\in\hat{X}_{1}}\sum_{i_{2}\in\hat{X}_{2}}\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{int}}^{*}(i_{1},i_{2})g_{\mid X_{1}\mid}(X_{1})g_{\mid X_{2}\mid}(X_{2}), \quad (2.38)$$

where we used the notation adopted above in expansions (2.33).

The following statement is true [53].

Theorem. If $t \in \mathbb{R}$, a unique solution of the Cauchy problem of the Liouville hierarchy (2.31),(2.32) is represented by a sequence of expansions (2.33). For $g_n^0 \in L_{n,0}^1 \subset L_n^1$, $n \ge 1$, a sequence of functions (2.33) is a classical solution and for arbitrary initial data $g_n^0 \in L_n^1$, $n \ge 1$, one has a generalized solution.

The proof of the theorem is similar to the proof of the existence theorem for the BBGKY hierarchy in the space of sequences of integrable functions [14,67]. Indeed, if the initial data is $g_n^0 \in L_{n,0}^1$, $n \ge 1$, then the infinitesimal generator of the group of nonlinear operators (2.37) coincides with the operator (2.38) and hence the Cauchy problem (2.31),(2.32) has a classical (strong) solution (2.33).

We remark that a steady solution of the Liouville hierarchy (2.31) is a sequence of the Ursell functions on the allowed configurations of hard spheres, i.e., it is the sequence $g^{(eq)} = (0, e^{-\beta \frac{p_1^2}{2}}, 0, ...,)$, where β is a parameter inversely proportional to temperature [64].

Finally, we emphasize that the dynamics of correlations, that is, the fundamental equations (2.31) describing the evolution of correlations of states of hard spheres, can be used as a basis for describing the evolution of the state of both a finite and an infinite number of hard spheres instead of the Liouville equations (1.8).

In what follows, we outline an approach to describing the evolution of a state using reduced distribution functions based on the dynamics of correlations in a system of many hard spheres governed by the Liouville hierarchy for correlation functions (2.31).

Remind that reduced distribution functions are defined by means of sequence (1.15) of the probability distribution functions:

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \doteq (I, D(t))^{-1} \times \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} D_{s+n}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}), \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.39)

where the normalizing factor

$$(I, D(t)) \doteq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^n} dx_1 \cdots dx_n D_n(t, x_1, \dots, x_n)$$

is a grand canonical partition function. The possibility of redefining of the reduced distribution functions naturally arises as a result of dividing the series in expression (2.39) by the series of the normalization factor.

A definition of reduced distribution functions equivalent to definition (2.39) is formulated on the basis of correlation functions (2.33) of a system of hard spheres by means of the following series expansion [53]:

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \doteq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \times$$

$$\times g_{1+n}(t, \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}\}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}), \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.40)

where on the set of allowed configurations $\mathbb{R}^{3(s+n)}\setminus \mathbb{W}_{s+n}$ the correlation functions of clusters of hard spheres $g_{1+n}(t), n \ge 0$, are determined by the expansions:

$$g_{1+n}(t, \{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \\ = \sum_{\substack{\mathsf{P}:(\{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, \\ x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \bigcup_i X_i}} \mathfrak{A}_{|\mathsf{P}|}^*(t, \{\theta(\hat{X}_1)\}, \dots, \{\theta(\hat{X}_{|\mathsf{P}|})\}) \prod_{X_i \subset \mathsf{P}} g_{|X_i|}^0(X_i), \ n \ge 0.$$
(2.41)

We remind that in expansions (2.41) the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{|\mathbf{P}|}^{*}(t)$ is the $|\mathbf{P}|th$ -order cumulant (2.34) of the groups of operators (1.6), and the symbol $\sum_{\mathbf{P}:(\{x_1,\ldots,x_s\},x_{s+1},\ldots,x_{s+n})=\bigcup_i X_i}$ means the sum over all possible partitions \mathbf{P} of the set $(\{x_1,\ldots,x_s\},x_{s+1},\ldots,x_{s+n})$ into nonempty mutually disjoint subsets X_i .

On allowed configurations the correlation functions of particle clusters in series (2.40), i.e., the functions $g_{1+n}(t, \{x_1, \ldots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_{s+n}), n \ge 0$, are defined as solutions of generalized cluster expansions of a sequence of solutions of the Liouville equations:

$$D_{s+n}(t, x_1, \dots, x_{s+n}) = = \sum_{\substack{P:(\{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, \\ x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \bigcup_i X_i}} \prod_{X_i \subset P} g_{|X_i|}(t, X_i), \quad s \ge 1, n \ge 0,$$
(2.42)

namely,

$$g_{1+n}(t, \{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \\ = \sum_{\substack{P:(\{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, \\ x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \bigcup_i X_i}} D_{|\theta(X_i)|}(t, \theta(X_i)), \quad s \ge 1, n \ge 0,$$

where θ is the declusterization mapping defined in formula (2.34), the probability distribution function $D_{|\theta(X_i)|}(t, \theta(X_i))$ is a solution of the Liouville equation.

The correlation functions of particle clusters satisfy the Liouville hierarchy of evolution equations with the following generator

$$\mathcal{L}(\{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n \mid \mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}g(t)) \doteq \\
\doteq \mathcal{L}^*_{s+n}(1, \dots, s+n)g_{1+n}(t, X) + \\
+ \sum_{P: X=X_1 \bigcup X_2} \sum_{i_1 \in \theta(\hat{X}_1)} \sum_{i_2 \in \theta(\hat{X}_2)} \mathcal{L}^*_{int}(i_1, i_2)g_{|X_1|}(t, X_1)g_{|X_2|}(t, X_2), \ n \ge 0,$$
(2.43)

where $X \equiv (\{Y\}, x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_{s+n}) \equiv (\{x_1, \ldots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \ldots, x_{s+n})$, the sequence of solutions of generalized cluster expansions (2.42) is denoted by means of the mapping

$$(\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}g)_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \doteq g_{1+n}(\{x_1,\ldots,x_s\},x_{s+1},\ldots,x_{s+n}), \quad n \ge 0,$$

and we also used the notations adopted above in expansion (2.33).

We note that on the allowed configurations the correlation functions of hard-sphere clusters can be expressed through correlation functions of hard spheres (2.33) by the following relations:

$$g_{1+n}(t, \{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = = \sum_{\substack{P:(\{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, \\ x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) = \bigcup_i X_i}} \sum_{\substack{X_i \subset P \ P': \ \theta(X_i) = \bigcup_{j_i} Z_{j_i} \ \sum_{Z_{j_i} \subset P'}} \prod_{Z_{j_i} \subseteq P'} g_{|Z_{j_i}|}(t, Z_{j_i}), \ n \ge 0.$$

$$(2.44)$$

In particular case n = 0, i.e., the correlation function of a cluster of the s hard spheres, these relations take the form

$$g_{1+0}(t, \{x_1, \dots, x_s\}) = \sum_{P: \theta(\{x_1, \dots, x_s\}) = \bigcup_i X_i} \prod_{X_i \subset P} g_{|X_i|}(t, X_i).$$

As a consequence of these relations, for the initial state satisfying the chaos condition, from (2.41) the following generalization of expansions (2.35) holds:

$$g_{s+n}(t, \{x_1, \dots, x_s\}, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}) =$$

$$= \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) \times$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{s+n} g_1^0(x_i) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(s+n)} \setminus \mathbb{W}_{s+n}}, \ s \ge 1, n \ge 0.$$
(2.45)

As we noted above, the possibility of the description of the evolution of a state based on the dynamics of correlations (2.40) occurs naturally in consequence of dividing the series of expressions (2.39) by the series of the normalizing factor. To provide evidence of this statement, we will introduce the necessary notions and prove the validity of some auxiliary equalities.

On sequences of functions $f, \tilde{f} \in L^1 \oplus_{n=0}^{\infty} L^1_n$ we define the following *-product [90]

$$(f * \widetilde{f})_s(x_1, \dots, x_s) = \sum_{Z \subset (x_1, \dots, x_s)} f_{|Z|}(Z) \widetilde{f}_{s-|Z|}((x_1, \dots, x_s) \backslash Z), \qquad (2.46)$$

where $\sum_{Z \subset (x_1, \dots, x_s)}$ is the sum over all subsets Z of the set (x_1, \dots, x_s) . Using the definition of the *-product (2.46), we introduce the mapping $\mathbb{E}xp_*$ and the inverse mapping $\mathbb{L}n_*$ on sequences

$$h = (0, h_1(x_1), \dots, h_n(x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots)$$

of functions $h_n \in L_n^1$ by the expansions:

$$(\mathbb{E}xp_*h)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \left(\mathbb{I} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{h^{*n}}{n!}\right)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) =$$
$$= \delta_{s,0} + \sum_{P: (x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \bigcup_i X_i} \prod_{X_i \subset P} h_{|X_i|}(X_i),$$
(2.47)
where we used the notations accepted in formula (2.29), $\mathbb{I} = (1, 0, ..., 0, ...)$ and $\delta_{s,0}$ is the Kronecker symbol, and respectively,

$$(\mathbb{L}n_*(\mathbb{I}+h))_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n-1} \frac{h^{*n}}{n}\right)_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \sum_{\substack{P: (x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \bigcup_i X_i}} (-1)^{|P|-1} (|P|-1)! \prod_{X_i \subset P} h_{|X_i|}(X_i).$$
(2.48)

Therefore in terms of sequences of functions recursion relations (2.29) are rewritten in the form

 $D(t) = \mathbb{E} \mathrm{xp}_* \ g(t),$

where $D(t) = \mathbb{I} + (0, D_1(t, x_1), ..., D_n(t, x_1, ..., x_n), ...)$. As a result, we get

$$g(t) = \mathbb{L}\mathbf{n}_* \ D(t).$$

Thus, according to definition (2.46) of the *-product and mapping (2.48), in the component-wise form solutions of recursion relations (2.29) are represented by expansions (2.30).

For arbitrary $f = (f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_n, \ldots) \in L^1$ and the set $Y \equiv (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$ we define the linear mapping $\mathfrak{d}_Y : f \to \mathfrak{d}_Y f$, by the formula

$$(\mathfrak{d}_Y f)_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) \doteq f_{s+n}(x_1, \dots, x_s, x_{s+1}, \dots, x_{s+n}), \ n \ge 0.$$
 (2.49)

For the set $\{Y\}$ consisting of the one element $Y = (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$, we have, respectively

$$(\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}f)_n(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \doteq f_{1+n}(\{x_1,\ldots,x_s\},x_{s+1},\ldots,x_{s+n}), \ n \ge 0.$$
 (2.50)

On sequences $\mathfrak{d}_Y f$ and $\mathfrak{d}_{Y'} \tilde{f}$ we introduce the *-product

$$(\mathfrak{d}_Y f \ast \mathfrak{d}_{Y'} \widetilde{f})_{|X|}(X) \doteq \sum_{Z \subset X} f_{|Z|+|Y|}(Y,Z) \, \widetilde{f}_{|X \setminus Z|+|Y'|}(Y',X \setminus Z),$$

where X, Y, Y' are the sets, which characterize clusters of hard spheres, and $\sum_{Z \subset X}$ is the sum over all subsets Z of the set X. In particular case $Y = \emptyset, Y' = \emptyset$, this definition reduces to definition of *-product (2.46).

Let us establish some properties of introduced mappings (2.47) and (2.50).

If $f_n \in L_n^1$, $n \ge 1$ for the sequences $f = (0, f_1, \ldots, f_n, \ldots)$, according to definitions of mappings (2.47) and (2.50), the following equality holds

$$\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}\mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_*f = \mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_*f * \mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}f, \qquad (2.51)$$

and for mapping (2.49), respectively

$$\mathfrak{d}_Y \mathbb{E} \mathrm{xp}_* f = \mathbb{E} \mathrm{xp}_* f \quad * \sum_{\mathrm{P}: Y = \bigcup_i X_i} \mathfrak{d}_{X_1} f * \ldots * \mathfrak{d}_{X_{|\mathrm{P}|}} f,$$

where $\sum_{P: Y = \bigcup_i X_i}$ denotes the sum over all possible partitions P of the set $Y \equiv (x_1, \ldots, x_s)$ into |P| nonempty mutually disjoint subsets $X_i \subset Y$.

Hence, in terms of mappings (2.49) and (2.50) generalized cluster expansions (2.42) take the form

$$\mathfrak{d}_Y D(t) = \mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}} \mathbb{E} \mathrm{xp}_* \ g(t). \tag{2.52}$$

On sequences of functions $f\in L^1=\oplus_{n=0}^\infty L^1_n$ we also define the analogue of the annihilation operator

$$(\mathfrak{a}f)_n(x_1,\dots,x_n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_{n+1} f_{n+1}(x_1,\dots,x_n,x_{n+1}).$$
(2.53)

Then for sequences $f, \tilde{f} \in L^1$, the following equality holds

$$(e^{\mathfrak{a}}f * \widetilde{f})_0 = (e^{\mathfrak{a}}f)_0(e^{\mathfrak{a}}\widetilde{f})_0, \qquad (2.54)$$

where such a notation was used

$$(e^{\mathfrak{a}}f)_{0} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{1} \cdots dx_{n} f_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}).$$
(2.55)

Now let us prove the equivalence of definition (2.39) of the reduced distribution functions and their definition (2.40) within the framework of the dynamics of correlations.

In terms of mapping (2.49) and notation (2.55) the definition of reduced distribution functions (2.39) is written as follows

$$F_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}} D(t))_0^{-1} (e^{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{d}_Y D(t))_0.$$

Using generalized cluster expansions (2.52), and as a consequence of equalities (2.51) and (2.54), we find

$$\begin{aligned} (e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathfrak{d}_{Y}D(t))_{0} &= (e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}\mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_{*}\,g(t))_{0} = \\ (e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_{*}g(t)\ast\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}g(t))_{0} &= (e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_{*}g(t))_{0}(e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}}g(t))_{0}. \end{aligned}$$

Taking into account that, according to the particular case $Y = \emptyset$, of cluster expansions (2.42), the equality holds

$$(e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathbb{E}\mathrm{xp}_*g(t))_0 = (e^{\mathfrak{a}}D(t))_0,$$

as a result, we establish the following representation for the reduced distribution functions

$$F_s(t, x_1, \ldots, x_s) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{d}_{\{Y\}} g(t))_0.$$

Therefore, in componentwise-form we obtain relation (2.40).

Since the correlation functions $g_{1+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, are governed by the corresponding Liouville hierarchy for the cluster of hard spheres and hard spheres,

the reduced distribution functions (2.40) are governed by the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F(t) = e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathcal{L}(\{\cdot\}, \cdot \mid e^{-\mathfrak{a}}F(t)), \qquad (2.56)$$

where the operator $\mathcal{L}(\{\cdot\}, \cdot \mid f)$ is generator (2.43) of the Liouville hierarchy for a cluster of hard spheres and hard spheres. For a generator of this hierarchy of evolution equations takes place the following representation:

$$e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathcal{L}(\{\cdot\},\cdot\mid e^{-\mathfrak{a}}F(t))=e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathcal{L}^{*}e^{-\mathfrak{a}}F(t),$$

where the operator $\mathcal{L}^* = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}_n^*$ is a direct sum of the Liouville operators and the operator \mathfrak{a} is defined by formula (2.53). Due to the fact that pairwise collisions occur during the evolution, a generator of this hierarchy is reduced to the operator of such a structure [14]

$$e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathcal{L}^*e^{-\mathfrak{a}} = \mathcal{L}^* + [\mathfrak{a}, \mathcal{L}^*],$$

where as above the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the commutator of operators.

We note that for the first time the BBGKY hierarchy for many hard spheres (2.56) was mathematically justified in paper [83] (see also [14]).

In consequence of definition (2.40) and the cumulant structure of representation of a solution (2.33) for the Liouville hierarchy (2.31), if initial state specified by the sequence of reduced distribution functions

$$F(0) = (1, F_1^0(x_1), \dots, F_n^0(x_1, \dots, x_n), \dots),$$

then the evolution of all possible states, i.e., a sequence of the reduced distribution functions $F_s(t)$, $s \ge 1$, is determined by the series expansions (2.24).

We remark that the representation (2.24) is directly established for the initial states satisfying the chaos condition due to the validity in this case of the representation (2.45) for the correlation functions of the hard-sphere cluster and of the hard spheres.

Consequently, as follows from the above, the cumulant structure of generating operators of expansions for correlation functions (2.33) or (2.41) induces the cumulant structure (2.22) of generating operators of series expansions for reduced distribution functions (2.24) or in other words, the evolution of the state of a system of an infinite number of hard spheres is governed by the dynamics of correlations on a microscopic scale.

Thus, we have established relation (2.40) between the reduced distribution functions and correlation functions governed by the Liouville hierarchy.

2.4. The hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations for reduced correlation functions. As is known, on a microscopic scale, the macroscopic characteristics of fluctuations of observables are directly determined by means of the reduced correlation functions. Assuming as a basis an

alternative approach to the description of the evolution of states of a hardsphere system within the framework of correlation functions (2.33), then the reduced correlation functions are defined by means of a solution of the Cauchy problem of the Liouville hierarchy (2.31), (2.32) as follows [53]:

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \doteq \\ \doteq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} g_{s+n}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s+n}), \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.57)

where the generating function $g_{s+n}(t, x_1, \ldots, x_{s+n})$ is defined by expansion (2.33), or in terms of mapping (2.49) and notation (2.55) this definition takes the form

$$G_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{d}_Y g(t))_0,$$

or in terms of sequences of functions this expression has the form

$$G(t) = e^{\mathfrak{a}}g(t).$$

We emphasize that *nth* term of expansions (2.57) of the reduced correlation functions are determined by the (s+n)th-particle correlation function (2.33)in contrast with the expansions of reduced distribution functions (2.40)which are determined by the (1+n)th-particle correlation function of clusters of hard spheres (2.41).

Such a representation for reduced correlation functions (2.57) can be derived as a result of the fact that the reduced correlation functions are cumulants of reduced distribution functions (2.40). Indeed, traditionally reduced correlation functions are introduced by means of the cluster expansions of the reduced distribution functions similar to the cluster expansions of the probability distribution functions (2.29) and on the set of allowed configurations $\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n$ they have the form:

$$F_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \sum_{P:(x_1, \dots, x_s) = \bigcup_i X_i} \prod_{X_i \subset P} G_{|X_i|}(t, X_i), \ s \ge 1,$$
(2.58)

where as above the symbol $\sum_{P:(x_1,\ldots,x_s)=\bigcup_i X_i}$ is the sum over all possible partitions P of the set (x_1,\ldots,x_s) into |P| nonempty mutually disjoint subsets $X_i \subset (x_1,\ldots,x_s)$. As a consequence of this, the solution of recurrence relations (2.58) are represented through reduced distribution functions as follows:

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = = \sum_{\substack{P:(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \bigcup_{i} X_{i}}} (|P| - 1)! \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} F_{|X_{i}|}(t, X_{i}), \ s \ge 1.$$
(2.59)

Functions (2.59) are interpreted as the functions which describe the correlations of hard-sphere states. The structure of expansions (2.59) is such that the reduced correlation functions are cumulants (semi-invariants) of the reduced distribution functions (2.24).

Thus, taking into account representation (2.40) of the reduced distribution functions, in consequence of the validity of relations (2.44) we derive representation (2.57) of the reduced correlation functions through correlation functions

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \sum_{\substack{P:(x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \bigcup X_{i}}} (-1)^{|P|-1} (|P|-1)! \prod_{X_{i} \subset P} (e^{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{d}_{\{X_{i}\}} g(t)) = (e^{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{d}_{Y} g(t))_{0}.$$

Since the correlation functions $g_{s+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, are governed by the Liouville hierarchy for hard spheres (2.31), the reduced correlation functions defined as (2.57) are governed by the hierarchy of nonlinear equations for hard spheres (the nonlinear BBGKY hierarchy) [53]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_{s}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) = \mathcal{L}_{s}^{*}G_{s}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) + \\
+ \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{P}: (x_{1},\ldots,x_{s})=X_{1} \bigcup X_{2} \quad i_{1}\in\hat{X}_{1} \quad i_{2}\in\hat{X}_{2}}} \sum_{i_{2}\in\hat{X}_{2}} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i_{1},i_{2})G_{|X_{1}|}(t,X_{1})G_{|X_{2}|}(t,X_{2})) + \\
+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{s+1} \Big(\sum_{i=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i,s+1)G_{s+1}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s+1}) + \\
+ \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}}} \sum_{i\in\hat{X}_{1}} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i,s+1)G_{|X_{1}|}(t,X_{1})G_{|X_{2}|}(t,X_{2}) \Big), \\
+ \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{P}: (x_{1},\ldots,x_{s+1})=X_{1} \bigcup X_{2}}} \sum_{\substack{i\in\hat{X}_{1} \\ s+1\in\hat{X}_{2}}} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i,s+1)G_{|X_{1}|}(t,X_{1})G_{|X_{2}|}(t,X_{2}) \Big), \\$$
(2.60)

$$G_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s)\big|_{t=0} = G_s^0(x_1, \dots, x_s), \quad s \ge 1,$$
(2.61)

where the symbol $\sum_{P:(x_1,\ldots,x_{s+1})=X_1\bigcup X_2}$ means the sum over all possible partitions of the set (x_1,\ldots,x_{s+1}) into two mutually disjoint subsets X_1 and X_2 , the sum over the index i which takes values from the subset \hat{X}_1 provided that the index s + 1 belongs to the subset \hat{X}_2 is denoted by $\sum_{i\in \hat{X}_1,s+1\in \hat{X}_2}$ and notations accepted in the Liouville hierarchy (2.31) are used.

A generator of this hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations has the following structure:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G(t) = e^{\mathfrak{a}}\mathcal{L}(\cdot \mid e^{-\mathfrak{a}}G(t)),$$

where the operator $\mathcal{L}(\cdot \mid f) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}(1, \ldots, n \mid f)$ is a direct sum of generators (2.38) of the Liouville hierarchy (2.31). Here are some component-wise

examples of hierarchy (2.60):

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_{1}(t,x_{1}) = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{*}(1)G_{1}(t,x_{1}) + \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{2}\mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,2) \left(G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) + G_{1}(t,x_{1})G_{1}(t,x_{2})\right), \\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) = \mathcal{L}_{2}^{*}(1,2)G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2}) + \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,2)G_{1}(t,x_{1})G_{1}(t,x_{2}) + \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{3} \Big(\sum_{i=1}^{2} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(i,3) \Big(G_{3}(t,x_{1},x_{2},x_{3}) + G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2})G_{1}(t,x_{3})\Big) + \\ &+ \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(2,3)G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{3})G_{1}(t,x_{2}) + \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,3)G_{2}(t,x_{2},x_{3})G_{1}(t,x_{1})\Big), \end{split}$$

where it was used notations accepted above in definition (1.7).

If $G(0) = (1, G_1^0(x_1), \ldots, G_s^0(x_1, \ldots, x_s), \ldots)$ is a sequence of reduced correlation functions at initial instant, then by means of mappings (2.37) the evolution of all possible states, i.e., the sequence of the reduced correlation functions $G_s(t), s \ge 1$, is determined by the following series expansions:

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) =$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \times$$

$$\times \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t; \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n \mid G(0)), \ s \ge 1,$$

$$(2.62)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t; \{1, \ldots, s\}, s+1, \ldots, s+n \mid G(0))$ of this series is the (1+n)th-order cumulant of groups of nonlinear operators (2.33):

$$\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}(t; \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n \mid G(0)) \doteq \\ \doteq \sum_{\substack{(-1)^{|\mathbf{P}|-1}(|\mathbf{P}|-1)! \times \\ \mathbf{P}: (\{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) = \bigcup_k X_k \\ \times \mathcal{G}(t; \theta(X_1) \mid \dots \mathcal{G}(t; \theta(X_{|\mathbf{P}|}) \mid G(0)) \dots), \ n \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.63)

and where the composition of mappings (2.33) of the corresponding noninteracting groups of particles was denoted by

$$\mathcal{G}(t; \theta(X_1) \mid \ldots \mathcal{G}(t; \theta(X_{|\mathbf{P}|}) \mid G(0)) \ldots),$$

for example,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}(t;1 \mid \mathcal{G}(t;2 \mid G(0))) &= \mathfrak{A}_1(t,1)\mathfrak{A}_1(t,2)G_2^0(x_1,x_2), \\ \mathcal{G}(t;1,2 \mid \mathcal{G}(t;3 \mid G(0))) &= \mathfrak{A}_1(t,\{1,2\})\mathfrak{A}_1(t,3)G_3^0(x_1,x_2,x_3) + \end{aligned}$$

+
$$\mathfrak{A}_2(t,1,2)\mathfrak{A}_1(t,3)(G_1^0(x_1)G_2^0(x_2,x_3)+G_1^0(x_2)G_2^0(x_1,x_3))$$

We will adduce examples of expansions (2.63). The first order cumulant of the groups of nonlinear operators (2.33) is the group of these nonlinear operators

$$\mathfrak{A}_1(t; \{1, \ldots, s\} \mid G(0)) = \mathcal{G}(t; 1, \ldots, s \mid G(0))$$

In case of s = 2 the second order cumulant of nonlinear operators (2.33) has the structure

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}(t; \{1,2\},3 \mid G(0)) &= \\ &= \mathcal{G}(t;1,2,3 \mid G(0)) - \mathcal{G}(t;1,2 \mid \mathcal{G}(t;3 \mid G(0))) = \\ &= \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}^*(t, \{1,2\},3)G_3^0(1,2,3) + \\ &+ \left(\mathfrak{A}_{1+1}^*(t, \{1,2\},3) - \mathfrak{A}_2(t,2,3)\mathfrak{A}_1^*(t,1)\right)G_1^0(x_1)G_2^0(x_2,x_3) + \\ &+ \left(\mathfrak{A}_{1+1}(t, \{1,2\},3) - \mathfrak{A}_2^*(t,1,3)\mathfrak{A}_1^*(t,2)\right)G_1^0(x_2)G_2^0(x_1,x_3) + \\ &+ \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}^*(t, \{1,2\},3)G_1^0(x_3)G_2^0(x_1,x_2) + \mathfrak{A}_3^*(t,1,2,3)G_1^0(x_1)G_1^0(x_2)G_1^0(x_3), \end{aligned}$$

where the operator

$$\mathfrak{A}_{3}^{*}(t,1,2,3) = \mathfrak{A}_{1+1}^{*}(t,\{1,2\},3) - \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{*}(t,2,3)\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*}(t,1) - \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{*}(t,1,3)\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*}(t,2)$$

is the third-order cumulant (2.36) of groups of operators (1.6) of a system of hard spheres.

The following statement is true [53].

Theorem. Let $G(0) \in \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} L_n^1$, then for arbitrary $t \in \mathbb{R}$ provided that $\max_{n \geq 1} \|G_n^0\|_{L_n^1} < (2e^3)^{-1}$, the sequence of reduced correlation functions (2.62) is a unique solution of the Cauchy problem of nonlinear hierarchy (2.60), (2.61) for hard spheres.

In the particular case of the initial state specified by the sequence of reduced correlation functions $G^{(c)} = (0, G_1^0, 0, \ldots, 0, \ldots)$ on the allowed configurations, that is, in the absence of correlations between hard spheres at the initial moment of time [14], according to definition (2.63) of the generating operators, reduced correlation functions (2.62) are represented by the following series expansions:

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \times$$

$$\times \mathfrak{A}_{s+n}^{*}(t; 1, \dots, s+n) \prod_{i=1}^{s+n} G_{1}^{0}(x_{i}) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3}(s+n) \setminus \mathbb{W}_{s+n}}, \ s \ge 1,$$

$$(2.64)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{s+n}^*(t)$ is the (s+n)th-order cumulant (2.36) of the groups of operators (1.6).

We emphasize that in the absence of correlations of states of hard spheres on allowed configurations at the initial moment of time, the generators of expansions into a series of reduced correlation functions (2.64) and reduced distribution functions (2.24) differ only in the order of cumulants of groups of operators of hard spheres. Therefore, by means of such reduced distribution functions or reduced correlation functions, the process of creating correlations in a system of hard spheres is described.

We note that the reduced correlation functions give an equivalent approach to the description of the evolution of states of many hard spheres, along with the reduced distribution functions. Indeed, the macroscopic characteristics of fluctuations of observables are directly determined by the reduced correlation functions on the microscopic scale [6] for example, the functional of the dispersion of an additive-type observable, i.e., the sequence

$$A^{(1)} = (0, a_1(x_1), \dots, \sum_{i_1=1}^{n} a_1(x_{i_1}), \dots),$$
 is represented by the formula

$$\langle (A^{(1)} - \langle A^{(1)} \rangle)^2 \rangle(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_1 \, (a_1^2(x_1) - \langle A^{(1)} \rangle^2(t)) G_1(t, x_1) + \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^2} dx_1 dx_2 \, a_1(x_1) a_1(x_2) G_2(t, x_1, x_2),$$

where

$$\langle A^{(1)} \rangle(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_1 \, a_1(x_1) G_1(t, x_1)$$

is the mean value functional of an additive-type observable.

3. Nonlinear kinetic equations for many hard spheres

The conventional philosophy of the description of kinetic evolution is that if the initial state is specified by a one-particle (reduced) distribution function, then at an arbitrary time the evolution of the state in an appropriate scaling limit can be effectively described by means of a one-particle distribution function that is governed by the nonlinear kinetic equation. Below, we give an answer to the question about the description of the kinetic evolution of colliding particles, not on the basis of a common interpretation but within the framework of the evolution of the observables of many hard spheres.

The problem of a rigorous description of the kinetic evolution by means of hard sphere observables will be considered by giving the example of the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics of a non-perturbative solution of the Cauchy problem of the dual BBGKY hierarchy [51].

3.1. On the Boltzmann–Grad scaling approximation. The present notion of the Boltzmann–Grad approximation was first introduced in Grad's paper [73]. From a physical point of view, this approximation means that we deal with a low-density gas in a situation where the diameter of a hard sphere, or, in other words, the radius of the short-range interaction potential, is sufficiently less in comparison with the average length of a free path of hard spheres.

In a dimensionless form, the generator of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres contains a scaling parameter: the ratio of the diameter of hard spheres to their mean free path [35]. The finite value of the mean free path of hard spheres means that in this approximation the average number of particles tends to infinity; in other words, according to the definition of (2.16), the state must be described by functions from the appropriate function spaces, for example, from the space to which the sequences of reduced equilibrium distribution functions belong [64, 90]. In this case, the initial state is described by the reduced distribution functions from the space L_{ξ}^{∞} of sequences of functions bounded with respect to the configuration variables and decreasing with respect to the momentum ones, equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{L_{\xi}^{\infty}} = \sup_{n \ge 0} \xi^{-n} \sup_{x_1, \dots, x_n} |f_n(x_1, \dots, x_n)| \exp\left(\beta \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{p_i^2}{2}\right),$$

where $\xi > 0$ and $\beta > 0$ are parameters.

For such initial data, the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics of a solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres are described by the so-called Boltzmann hierarchy [79]. As a consequence, for factorized initial data, i.e., for the initial state without correlations, which describes molecular chaos [14], the equation determining the evolution of an initial state is a closed equation for a one-particle distribution function, that is to say Boltzmann's kinetic equation [13].

The detailed analysis of the problem of the construction of such asymptotics for a solution of the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy shows that the basic difficulty consists in proving the term-by-term convergence of the iteration series that represents this solution to the corresponding limit, that is, to the series representing the solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann hierarchy. This difficulty is related to the fact that the integrands in each term of the iteration series do not converge to the limit uniformly across the whole domain of integration. We note that in early works on the justification of the Boltzmann–Grad limit, attention was not properly paid to this property, and a precise mathematical meaning was not given to the individual terms of the iteration series representing a solution of the BBGKY hierarchy. In the papers [61,83] a complete discussion of these problems was presented.

From a mathematical point of view, the existence of the Boltzmann– Grad asymptotics of a perturbative solution of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres was discussed in Cercignani's paper [12] and later in Lanford's work [79]. A rigorous mathematical proof of the Boltzmann–Grad limit theorem has been given in a series of papers [57–59,61,83] by D. Ya. Petrina and V. I. Gerasimenko. The Boltzmann–Grad limit theorem for equilibrium states was proved in the paper [60].

Recently, there has been unflagging interest in the problem of deriving kinetic equations from the dynamics of many colliding particles as an asymptotic behavior of the BBGKY hierarchy in the scaling limits. In particular, progress in the rigorous solution of this problem on the basis of perturbation theory was achieved in the Boltzmann–Grad limit in the works [2–4, 20, 25, 28, 29, 87–89]; also see links therein.

3.2. The Boltzmann–Grad limit of reduced observables. To determine the scaling parameter, we rewrite the dual BBGKY hierarchy in dimensionless form. Then generator (1.3) of the hierarchy takes the form:

$$\mathcal{L}(j)b_{n} \doteq \langle p_{j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{j}} \rangle b_{n},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{int}(j_{1}, j_{2})b_{n} \doteq \epsilon^{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}_{+}} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_{1}} - p_{j_{2}}) \rangle \delta(q_{j_{1}} - q_{j_{2}} + \epsilon \eta) \times$$

$$\times \left(b_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, q_{j_{1}}, p_{j_{1}}^{*}, \dots, q_{j_{2}}, p_{j_{2}}^{*}, \dots, x_{n}) - b_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \right),$$

(3.1)

where the coefficient $\epsilon > 0$ is a scaling parameter, which is the ratio of the diameter $\sigma > 0$ to the mean free path of hard spheres. For $t \leq 0$, a generator of the dimensionless dual BBGKY hierarchy is determined by the corresponding expression [51].

Then the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of dimensionless reduced observables (2.3) is described by the following statement [51].

Theorem. Assume that for the initial data $B_n^{\epsilon,0} \in C_n$, $n \ge 1$, there is a limit $b_n^0 \in C_n$ in the sense of *-weak convergence of space C_n

$$w^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2n} B_n^{\epsilon,0} - b_n^0 \right) = 0.$$
 (3.2)

Then, for an arbitrary finite time interval, the Boltzmann-Grad limit of dimensionless reduced observables (2.3) exists in the same sense

$$\mathbf{w}^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2s} B_s(t) - b_s(t) \right) = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

and it is determined by the expansions:

$$b_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \sum_{n=0}^{s-1} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_{n} \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s)} S_{1}(t - t_{1}, j) \times \\ \times \sum_{i_{1} \neq j_{1}=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(i_{1}, j_{1}) \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1})} S_{1}(t_{1} - t_{2}, j) \cdots \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n-1})} S_{1}(t_{n-1} - t_{n}, j) \times \\ \times \sum_{i_{n} \neq j_{n}=1, \atop i_{n}, j_{n} \neq (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(i_{n}, j_{n}) \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{n})} S_{1}(t_{n}, j) b_{s-n}^{0}((x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}}, \dots, x_{j_{n}})), \\ s \ge 1,$$

$$(3.4)$$

where for the collision operator of point particles, the notation $\mathcal{L}^0_{\mathrm{int}}(j_1, j_2)$ is used

$$\mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(j_{1}, j_{2})b_{n} \doteq \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}_{+}} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{j_{1}} - p_{j_{2}}) \rangle \delta(q_{j_{1}} - q_{j_{2}}) \times \\ \times (b_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, q_{j_{1}}, p_{j_{1}}^{*}, \dots, q_{j_{2}}, p_{j_{2}}^{*}, \dots, x_{n}) - b_{n}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n})).$$
(3.5)

Let us make several comments on this theorem.

Consider the existence of the Boltzmann–Grad limit for a special case of reduced observables, namely additive-type reduced observables. Let us say that for the initial additive-type dimensionless reduced observable $B^{(1)}(0) = (0, b_1^{\epsilon}, 0, ...)$ the following condition is satisfied:

$$w^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2} b_1^{\epsilon} - b_1^0 \right) = 0,$$

then, according to statement (3.3), for additive-type reduced observables (2.10) we derive

$$w^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2s} B_s^{(1)}(t) - b_s^{(1)}(t) \right) = 0,$$

where the limit reduced observable $b_s^{(1)}(t)$ is determined as a special case of expansion (3.4):

$$b_{s}^{(1)}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) = \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{s-2}} dt_{s-1} \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s)} S_{1}(t - t_{1}, j) \times \\ \times \sum_{i_{1} \neq j_{1}=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(i_{1}, j_{1}) \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1})} S_{1}(t_{1} - t_{2}, j) \cdots \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{s-2})} S_{1}(t_{s-2} - t_{s-1}, j) \times \\ \times \sum_{i_{1} \neq j_{1}=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(i_{s-1}, j_{s-1}) \prod_{j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{s-2})} S_{1}(t_{s-1}, j) b_{1}^{0}((x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}}, \dots, x_{j_{s-1}}))), \\ \times \sum_{i_{s-1} \neq j_{s-1}=1, j \in (1, \dots, s) \setminus (j_{1}, \dots, j_{s-1})} S_{1}(t_{s-1}, j) b_{1}^{0}((x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}}, \dots, x_{j_{s-1}}))), \\ s \ge 1.$$

$$(3.6)$$

We make several examples of expansions (3.6) of the limit additive-type reduced observables:

$$b_1^{(1)}(t, x_1) = S_1(t, 1) \, b_1^0(x_1),$$

$$b_2^{(1)}(t, x_1, x_2) = \int_0^t dt_1 \prod_{i=1}^2 S_1(t - t_1, i) \, \mathcal{L}_{int}^0(1, 2) \sum_{j=1}^2 S_1(t_1, j) \, b_1^0(x_j).$$

Also suppose that the following condition is valid for the initial k-arytype reduced observable $B^{(k)}(0) = (0, \ldots, b_k^{\epsilon}, 0, \ldots)$:

$$\mathbf{w}^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2} b_k^{\epsilon} - b_k^0 \right) = 0,$$

then, according to statement (3.3), for k-ary-type dimensionless reduced observables (2.11), we derive

$$w^* - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{-2s} B_s^{(k)}(t) - b_s^{(k)}(t) \right) = 0,$$

where the limit reduced observable $b_s^{(k)}(t)$ is determined as a special case of expansion (3.4):

$$b_{s}^{(k)}(t,x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) = \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{s-k-1}} dt_{s-k} \prod_{j \in (1,\ldots,s)} S_{1}(t-t_{1},j) \sum_{i_{1} \neq j_{1}=1}^{s} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0}(i_{1},j_{1}) \times \\ \times \prod_{j \in (1,\ldots,s) \setminus (j_{1})} S_{1}(t_{1}-t_{2},j) \cdots \prod_{j \in (1,\ldots,s) \setminus (j_{1},\ldots,j_{s-k-1})} S_{1}(t_{s-k-1}-t_{s-k},j) \sum_{i_{s-k} \neq j_{s-k}=1, \atop i_{s-k},j_{s-k} \neq (j_{1},\ldots,j_{s-k-1})} \mathcal{L}_{is-k}^{0}(i_{s-k},j_{s-k}) \times \quad (3.7)$$
$$\times \prod_{j \in (1,\ldots,s) \setminus (j_{1},\ldots,j_{s-k})} S_{1}(t_{s-k},j) b_{k}^{0}((x_{1},\ldots,x_{s}) \setminus (x_{j_{1}},\ldots,x_{j_{s-k}})), \ 1 \leq s \leq k.$$

If $b^0 \in C_{\gamma}$, then the sequence $b(t) = (b_0, b_1(t), \dots, b_s(t), \dots)$ of limit reduced observables (3.4) is a generalized global solution of the Cauchy problem of the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions [51]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}b_s(t) = \sum_{j=1}^s \mathcal{L}(j) \, b_s(t) + \sum_{j_1 \neq j_2 = 1}^s \mathcal{L}_{int}^0(j_1, j_2) \, b_{s-1}(t, (x_1, \dots, x_s) \setminus (x_{j_1})), \quad (3.8)$$

$$b_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) \mid_{t=0} = b_s^0(x_1, \dots, x_s), \quad s \ge 1,$$
 (3.9)

where it was used notations accepted in (3.4).

This fact is proved similar to the case of an iteration series of the dual BBGKY hierarchy [10].

It should be noted that equations set (3.8) has the structure of recurrence evolution equations. We make a few examples of the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions (3.8):

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}b_1(t,x_1) = \langle p_1, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_1} \rangle b_1(t,x_1), \\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}b_2(t,x_1,x_2) = \sum_{j=1}^2 \langle p_j, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_j} \rangle b_2(t,x_1,x_2) + \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{S}^2_+} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_1 - p_2) \rangle \big(b_1(q_1,p_1^*) - b_1(x_1) + b_1(q_2,p_2^*) - b_1(x_2) \big) \delta(q_1 - q_2). \end{split}$$

Thus, in the Boltzmann–Grad scaling asymptotics, the kinetic evolution of hard sphere observables is described in terms of limit reduced observables (3.4) governed by the dual Boltzmann hierarchy (3.8) with hard sphere collisions.

3.3. The Boltzmann kinetic equation. We now establish the relationship between the constructed Boltzmann–Grad asymptotics of the reduced observables and the description of the kinetic evolution of states in terms of the one-particle reduced distribution function described by the Boltzmann kinetic equation.

In the case of the absence of correlations between particles at initial time, i.e., initial states satisfying a chaos condition [14], in dimensionless form, the sequence of initial reduced distribution functions for a system of hard spheres has the form

$$F^{(c)} \equiv \left(1, F_1^{\epsilon,0}(x_1), \dots, \prod_{i=1}^s F_1^{\epsilon,0}(x_i) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3s} \setminus \mathbb{W}_s}, \dots\right), \tag{3.10}$$

Let $F_1^{0,\epsilon} \in L^{\infty}_{\epsilon}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$, i.e., the following inequality holds:

$$|F_1^{0,\epsilon}(x_i)| \leq \xi \exp(-\beta \frac{p_i^2}{2}),$$

where $\xi > 0, \beta \ge 0$ are parameters.

We assume that the Boltzmann–Grad limit of the initial one-particle (reduced) distribution function $F_1^{0,\epsilon} \in L^\infty_{\xi}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ exists in the sense of a weak convergence of the space $L^\infty_{\xi}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$, namely,

$$w - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (\epsilon^2 F_1^{0,\epsilon} - f_1^0) = 0, \qquad (3.11)$$

then the Boltzmann–Grad limit of the initial state (3.10) satisfies a chaos property too, i.e.,

$$f^{(c)} \equiv (1, f_1^0(x_1), \dots, \prod_{i=1}^s f_1^0(x_i), \dots).$$

We note that assumption (3.11) with respect to the Boltzmann–Grad limit of initial states holds true for the equilibrium state [60].

If $b(t) \in C_{\gamma}$ and $|f_1^0(x_i)| \leq \xi \exp(-\beta \frac{p_i^2}{2})$, then the Boltzmann–Grad limit of mean value functional $(B(t), F^{(c)})$ exists under the condition that [83]:

$$t < t_0 \equiv \left(\operatorname{const}(\xi, \beta) \| f_1^0 \|_{L_{\xi}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)} \right)^{-1},$$

and it is determined by the following series expansion:

$$(b(t), f^{(c)}) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) \prod_{i=1}^s f_1^0(x_i).$$

For the limit of additive-type reduced observables (3.6) the following equality holds [51]:

$$(b^{(1)}(t), f^{(c)}) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s^{(1)}(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) \prod_{i=1}^s f_1^0(x_i) = = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_1 \, b_1^0(x_1) f_1(t, x_1),$$

$$(3.12)$$

where function $b_s^{(1)}(t)$ is given by expansion (3.6) and the distribution function $f_1(t, x_1)$ is represented by the series

$$f_{1}(t,x_{1}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_{n} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{2} \cdots dx_{n+1} S_{1}^{*}(t-t_{1},1) \times \\ \times \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0,*}(1,2) \prod_{j_{1}=1}^{2} S_{1}^{*}(t_{1}-t_{2},j_{1}) \cdots \prod_{i_{n}=1}^{n} S_{1}^{*}(t_{n-1}-t_{n},i_{n}) \times$$

$$\times \sum_{k_{n}=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0,*}(k_{n},n+1) \prod_{j_{n}=1}^{n+1} S_{1}^{*}(t_{n},j_{n}) \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} f_{1}^{0}(x_{i}),$$
(3.13)

and the following operator was introduced:

$$\int dx_{n+1} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0,*}(i,n+1) f_{n+1}(x_1,\dots,x_{n+1}) \equiv \\ \stackrel{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3}{=} \int dp_{n+1} d\eta \langle \eta, (p_i - p_{n+1}) \rangle \times \\ \stackrel{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{S}^2_+}{\times} \times \left(f_{n+1}(x_1,\dots,q_i,p_i^*,\dots,x_s,q_i,p_{n+1}^*) - - f_{n+1}(x_1,\dots,x_s,q_i,p_{n+1}) \right).$$
(3.14)

A one-particle distribution function represented as a series (3.13) is a solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f_1(t, x_1) = -\langle p_1, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_1} \rangle f_1(t, x_1) + \\
+ \int dp_2 \, d\eta \, \langle \eta, (p_1 - p_2) \rangle \times \\
\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{S}^2_+ \times \left(f_1(t, q_1, p_1^*) f_1(t, q_1, p_2^*) - f_1(t, x_1) f_1(t, q_1, p_2) \right), \quad (3.16)$$

$$f_1(t, x_1)_{|t=0} = f_1^0(x_1).$$

Thus, we establish that the dual Boltzmann hierarchy (3.8) for additivetype reduced observables and initial state (3.11) describe the evolution of hard sphere systems just as the Boltzmann kinetic equation (3.15).

We remark that in a one-dimensional space, the collision integral of the Boltzmann equation with elastic hard sphere collisions identically equals zero. In a one-dimensional space, the Boltzmann–Grad limit is not trivial in the case of hard sphere dynamics with inelastic collisions. In the paper [43] for one-dimensional granular gas, the process of the creation and propagation of correlations in the Boltzmann–Grad scaling limit was also described (see also section 5.1).

Correspondingly, if the initial state of hard spheres is given by a sequence of reduced distribution functions (3.10), then in the Boltzmann–Grad limit, the property of the propagation of initial chaos holds [51]. It is a result of the validity of the following equality for the limit k-ary reduced observables, i.e., for the sequences $b^{(k)}(0) = (0, \ldots, b_k^0(x_1, \ldots, x_k), 0, \ldots)$,

$$(b^{(k)}(t), f^{(c)}) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s^{(k)}(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) \prod_{i=1}^s f_1^0(x_i) = = \frac{1}{k!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^k} dx_1 \cdots dx_k \, b_k^0(x_1, \dots, x_k) \prod_{i=1}^k f_1(t, x_i), \ k \ge 2,$$

$$(3.17)$$

where the limit one-particle reduced distribution function $f_1(t)$ is defined by expansion (3.13) and therefore it is governed by the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation (3.15),(3.16).

Thus, in the Boltzmann–Grad scaling limit, an equivalent approach to the description of the kinetic evolution of hard spheres in terms of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation (3.15),(3.16) is given by the Cauchy problem of the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions (3.8),(3.9) for the additive-type reduced observables. In the case of non-additive-type reduced observables, a solution of the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions (3.8) is equivalent to the property of the propagation of initial chaos in the sense of equality (3.17).

3.4. The Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations. We now consider the case of the more general initial state of a hard sphere system specified by the one-particle reduced distribution function $F_1^{0,\epsilon} \in L_{\xi}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ in the presence of correlations, i.e., the initial state that is specified by the following sequence of reduced distribution functions:

$$F^{(cc)} = \left(1, F_1^{0,\epsilon}(x_1), g_2^{\epsilon} \prod_{i=1}^2 F_1^{0,\epsilon}(x_i), \dots, g_n^{\epsilon} \prod_{i=1}^n F_1^{0,\epsilon}(x_i), \dots\right), \qquad (3.18)$$

where the functions $g_n^{\epsilon} \equiv g_n^{\epsilon}(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in C_n(\mathbb{R}^{3n} \times (\mathbb{R}^{3n} \setminus \mathbb{W}_n)), n \geq 2$, specify the initial correlations. Since many-particle systems in condensed states are characterized by correlations, sequence (3.18) describes the initial state of the kinetic evolution of hard sphere fluids.

We assume that the Boltzmann–Grad limit of the initial one-particle reduced distribution function $F_1^{0,\epsilon} \in L^{\infty}_{\xi}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ exists in the sense as above, i.e., in the sense of a weak convergence the equality holds:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (\epsilon^2 F_1^{0,\epsilon} - f_1^0) = 0,$$

and in the case of correlation functions, suppose that:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} (g_n^{\epsilon} - g_n) = 0, \ n \ge 2.$$

Then in the Boltzmann–Grad limit, initial state (3.18) is specified by the following sequence of the limit reduced distribution functions:

$$f^{(cc)} = \left(1, f_1^0(x_1), g_2 \prod_{i=1}^2 f_1^0(x_i), \dots, g_n \prod_{i=1}^n f_1^0(x_i), \dots\right).$$
(3.19)

We now consider relationships between the constructed Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of reduced observables and the nonlinear Boltzmann-type kinetic equation in the case of initial state specified by sequence (3.19).

For the limit additive-type reduced observables (3.6) and initial states (3.19) the following equality is true:

$$\begin{pmatrix} b^{(1)}(t), f^{(cc)} \end{pmatrix} = = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s^{(1)}(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) g_s(x_1, \dots, x_s) \prod_{i=1}^s f_1^0(x_i) = = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_1 \, b_1^0(x_1) f_1(t, x_1),$$

where the functions $b_s^{(1)}(t)$ are represented by expansions (3.6) and the limit reduced distribution function $f_1(t)$ is represented by the following series expansion:

$$f_{1}(t,x_{1}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{t_{n-1}} dt_{n} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{2} \cdots dx_{n+1} S_{1}^{*}(t-t_{1},1) \times \\ \times \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0,*}(1,2) S_{1}^{*}(t_{1}-t_{2},j_{1}) \cdots \prod_{i_{n}=1}^{n} S_{1}^{*}(t_{n}-t_{n},i_{n}) \times \\ \times \sum_{k_{n}=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{0,*}(k_{n},n+1) \prod_{j_{n}=1}^{n+1} S_{1}^{*}(t_{n},j_{n}) g_{1+n}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{n+1}) \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} f_{1}^{0}(x_{i}).$$
(3.20)

Series (3.20) is uniformly convergent for a finite time interval under the condition as above.

The function $f_1(t)$ represented by series (3.20) is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations [30, 55]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} f_1(t, x_1) = -\langle p_1, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_1} \rangle f_1(t, x_1) + \int dp_2 \, d\eta \, \langle \eta, (p_1 - p_2) \rangle \times \\
\times \left(g_2(q_1 - p_1^*t, p_1^*, q_2 - p_2^*t, p_2^*) f_1(t, q_1, p_1^*) f_1(t, q_1, p_2^*) - \right. \\
- g_2(q_1 - p_1 t, p_1, q_2 - p_2 t, p_2) f_1(t, x_1) f_1(t, q_1, p_2) \right),$$
(3.21)
$$f_1(t, x_1) \Big|_{t=0} = f_1^0(x_1).$$
(3.22)

This fact is proved similarly to the case of a perturbative solution of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres represented by the iteration series [14, 58].

Thus, in the case of initial states specified by a one-particle reduced distribution function (3.19) we establish that the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions (3.8) for additive-type reduced observables describes the evolution of a hard sphere system just as the Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations (3.21).

The property of the propagation of initial correlations is a consequence of the validity of the following equality for the mean value functional of the limit k-ary reduced observables in the case of $k \ge 2$

$$\begin{pmatrix} b^{(k)}(t), f^{(cc)} \end{pmatrix} = = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s^{(k)}(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) g_s(x_1, \dots, x_s) \prod_{j=1}^s f_1^0(x_j) = = \frac{1}{k!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^k} dx_1 \cdots dx_k \, b_k^0(x_1, \dots, x_k) \times \times \prod_{i_1=1}^k S_1^*(t, i_1) g_k(x_1, \dots, x_k) \prod_{i_2=1}^k (S_1^*)^{-1}(t, i_2) \prod_{j=1}^k f_1(t, x_j),$$

$$(3.23)$$

where the one-particle reduced distribution function $f_1(t, x_j)$ is solution (3.20) of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations (3.21), (3.22), and the inverse group to the group of operators $S_1^*(t)$ we denote by

$$(S_1^*)^{-1}(t) = S_1^*(-t) = S_1(t).$$

This fact is proved similarly to the proof of a property on the propagation of initial chaos (3.17).

We note that, according to equality (3.23), in the Boltzmann–Grad limit, the reduced correlation functions are defined as cluster expansions of reduced distribution functions, namely,

$$f_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s) = \sum_{\mathbf{P}: (x_1, \dots, x_s) = \bigcup_i X_i} \prod_{X_i \subset \mathbf{P}} g_{|X_i|}(t, X_i), \ s \ge 1,$$

and they have the explicit form:

$$g_{1}(t, x_{1}) = f_{1}(t, x_{1}),$$

$$g_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s}) =$$

$$= \tilde{g}_{s}(q_{1} - p_{1}t, p_{1}, \dots, q_{s} - p_{s}t, p_{s}) \prod_{j=1}^{s} f_{1}(t, x_{j}), \ s \ge 2,$$
(3.24)

where for initial correlation functions (3.19) it is used the following notations:

$$\tilde{g}_s(x_1,\ldots,x_s) = \sum_{\mathbf{P}:(x_1,\ldots,x_s)=\bigcup_i X_i} \prod_{X_i \subset \mathbf{P}} g_{|X_i|}(X_i),$$

the symbol $\sum_{\mathbf{P}}$ means the sum over possible partitions P of the set of arguments (x_1, \ldots, x_s) on $|\mathbf{P}|$ nonempty subsets X_i , and the one-particle reduced distribution function $f_1(t)$ is a solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation with initial correlations (3.21), (3.22).

Thus, in the case of the limit k-ary reduced observables, a solution of the dual Boltzmann hierarchy with hard sphere collisions (3.8) is equivalent to a property of the propagation of initial correlations for the k-particle reduced distribution function in the sense of equality (3.23) or in other words, the Boltzmann–Grad scaling dynamics does not create new correlations.

4. ORIGIN OF KINETIC EQUATIONS

One of the challenges of kinetic theory, as mentioned above, is understanding the nature of the possibility of describing the evolution of the state of a system of many hard spheres by means of the state of a typical hard sphere. More precisely, we further focus on the problem of the origin of the description of the evolution of the state of hard spheres by the Enskog-type kinetic equation.

In the circumstances where the initial state is specified by a one-particle reduced distribution function, for the mean value functional of observables at an arbitrary instant, the representation is also valid in terms of a oneparticle reduced distribution function, the evolution of which is governed by a non-Markovian nonlinear evolution equation. In other words, for such initial data, the Cauchy problem of the BBGKY hierarchy for hard spheres is equivalent to the nonlinear Enskog-type kinetic equation and a sequence of reduced functionals determined by the solution of this evolution equation.

4.1. The generalised Enskog kinetic equation. In the case of initial state (3.10) the dual picture of the evolution to the picture described by employing observables governed by the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1) for hard spheres is the picture of the evolution of a state described by means of the non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation and by a sequence of explicitly defined functionals of the solution of such a kinetic equation that describe the evolution of all possible correlations in a system of hard spheres [46,47].

In view of the fact that the initial state is completely specified by a oneparticle reduced distribution function on allowed configurations (3.10), for mean value functional (1.11) the following representation holds [46]:

$$(B(t), F^{(c)}) = (B(0), F(t | F_1(t))),$$
 (4.1)

where $F^{(c)}$ is the sequence of initial reduced distribution functions (3.10), and the sequence $F(t | F_1(t)) = (1, F_1(t), F_2(t | F_1(t)), \dots, F_s(t | F_1(t)), \dots)$ is a sequence of the reduced functionals of the state $F_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s | F_1(t))$, $s \ge 2$, represented by the series expansions over the products of the oneparticle distribution function $F_1(t)$, namely

$$F_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s} \mid F_{1}(t)) \doteq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \times \\ \times \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t, \{1, \dots, s\}, s+1, \dots, s+n) \prod_{i=1}^{s+n} F_{1}(t, x_{i}), \ s \ge 2.$$

$$(4.2)$$

where the generating operators of series (4.2) are the (1+n)th-order operators $\mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, determined by the following expansions [47]:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}\big(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n\big) &= \\ &= n! \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \sum_{n_{1}=1}^{n} \cdots \sum_{n_{k}=1}^{n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{k-1}} \frac{1}{(n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{k})!} \times \\ &\times \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{k}}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{k}) \times \\ &\times \prod_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{D}_{j}: Z_{j}=\bigcup_{l_{j}} X_{l_{j}}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{D}_{j}|!} \times \\ &\times \prod_{|\mathbf{D}_{j}|\leqslant s+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{j}}^{s+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{j}} \\ &\times \sum_{i_{1}\neq\ldots\neq i_{|\mathbf{D}_{j}|=1}}^{s+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{j}} \prod_{X_{l_{j}}\subset\mathbf{D}_{j}} \frac{1}{|X_{l_{j}}|!} \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1+|X_{l_{j}}|}(t,i_{l_{j}},X_{l_{j}}), \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

In expansion (4.3) the symbol $\sum_{D_j:Z_j=\bigcup_{l_j}X_{l_j}}$ means the sum over all possible dissections of the linearly ordered set

$$Z_j \equiv (s + n - n_1 - \dots - n_j + 1, \dots, s + n - n_1 - \dots - n_{j-1})$$

on no more than $s + n - n_1 - \ldots - n_j$ linearly ordered subsets, and the (1+n)th-order scattering cumulant we denoted by the operator:

$$\hat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1+n}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n) \doteq \\ \doteq \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1,\ldots,s+n)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(s+n)}\setminus\mathbb{W}_{s+n}}\prod_{i=1}^{s+n}\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*}(t,i)^{-1},$$
(4.4)

where the operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^*(t)$ is the (1+n)th-order cumulant of the groups of operators (1.6) of hard spheres.

We provide some examples of expressions for the generating operators of series (4.2) for reduced functionals of the state:

$$\mathfrak{V}_{1}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\}) = \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\}) \doteq \\ \doteq S_{s}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,s)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(s)}\setminus\mathbb{W}_{s}}\prod_{i=1}^{s}S_{1}^{*}(t,i)^{-1}, \\ \mathfrak{V}_{2}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1) = \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{2}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\},s+1) - \\ - \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1}(t,\{1,\ldots,s\})\sum_{i_{1}=1}^{s}\widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{2}(t,i_{1},s+1).$$

The method of constructing reduced state functionals (4.2) is based on the application of the variation of cluster expansions, the so-called kinetic cluster expansions, to generating operators (2.22) of series representing solutions of hierarchies of evolution equations [47].

The one-particle distribution function $F_1(t)$ in dimensionless form, i.e., the first element of the sequence $F(t | F_1(t))$, is determined by series (2.20), namely

$$F_{1}(t, x_{1}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int dx_{2} \cdots dx_{n+1} \times \\ \times \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t, 1, \dots, n+1) \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} F_{1}^{\epsilon, 0}(x_{i}) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(1+n)} \setminus \mathbb{W}_{1+n}},$$

$$(4.5)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t)$ is the (1+n)th-order cumulant of the groups of operators (1.6).

Let us note that in particular case of initial data (2.2) specified by the additive-type reduced observables, according to solution expansion (2.10),

equality (4.1) takes the form

$$\left(B^{(1)}(t), F(0)\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} dx_1 \, b_1^{\epsilon}(x_1) F_1(t, x_1), \tag{4.6}$$

where the one-particle distribution function $F_1(t)$ is determined by series (4.5). In the case of initial data (2.2) specified by the *s*-ary reduced observable $s \ge 2$, equality (4.1) has the form

$$(B^{(s)}(t), F(0)) = \frac{1}{s!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)^s} dx_1 \cdots dx_s \, b_s^{\epsilon}(x_1, \dots, x_s) F_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s \mid F_1(t)),$$

where the reduced functionals of the state $F_s(t, x_1, \ldots, x_s | F_1(t))$ are determined by series (4.2).

Thus, for the initial state specified by a one-particle distribution function, the evolution of all possible states of a system of many hard spheres can be described by means of the state of a typical particle without any scaling approximations. We emphasize that reduced functionals of the state(4.2) describe all possible correlations created during the evolution of many hard spheres in terms of the state of a typical hard sphere.

For $t \ge 0$ the one-particle distribution function (4.5) is a solution of the following Cauchy problem of the non-Markovian generalized Enskog kinetic equation [47,53]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F_{1}(t,q_{1},p_{1}) = -\langle p_{1}, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{1}}\rangle F_{1}(t,q_{1},p_{1}) + \epsilon^{2} \int dp_{2}d\eta \langle \eta, (p_{1}-p_{2})\rangle \times \\
\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{S}^{2}_{+} \qquad (4.7) \\
\times \left(F_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1}^{*},q_{1}-\epsilon\eta,p_{2}^{*} \mid F_{1}(t)) - F_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1},q_{1}+\epsilon\eta,p_{2} \mid F_{1}(t))\right), \\
F_{1}(t)\big|_{t=0} = F_{1}^{\epsilon,0}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where the collision integral is determined by the reduced functional of the state (4.2) in the case of s = 2 and the expressions p_1^* and p_2^* are the precollision momenta of hard spheres (1.4). The series on the right-hand side of this equation converges under the condition: $||F_1(t)||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R})} < e^{-8}$.

Hence in the case of the additive-type reduced observables the generalized Enskog kinetic equation (4.7) is dual to the dual BBGKY hierarchy of hard spheres (2.1) with respect to bilinear form (1.11).

We observe that the structure of the collision integral of the generalized Enskog equation (4.7) is such that the first term of its expansion is the collision integral of the Boltzman–Enskog kinetic equation, and the next terms describe all possible correlations that are created by the dynamics of hard spheres and by the propagation of initial correlations connected with

the forbidden configurations, indeed

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F_1(t,x_1) = -\langle p_1, \frac{\partial}{\partial q_1} \rangle F_1(t,x_1) + \mathcal{I}_{GEE},$$

where the collision integral is determined by the following series expansion:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{GEE} &\doteq \epsilon^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{S}^2_+} dp_2 d\eta \int dx_3 \cdots dx_{n+2} \langle \eta, (p_1 - p_2) \rangle \times \\ &\times \left(\mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t, \{1^*, 2^*_-\}, 3, \dots, n+2) F_1(t, q_1, p_1^*) F_1(t, q_1 - \epsilon \eta, p_2^*) \prod_{i=3}^{n+2} F_1(t, x_i) - \right. \\ &- \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t, \{1, 2_+\}, 3, \dots, n+2) F_1(t, x_1) F_1(t, q_1 + \epsilon \eta, p_2) \prod_{i=3}^{n+2} F_1(t, x_i) \right), \end{aligned}$$

and the notations adopted for the conventional notation of the Enskog collision integral were used: indices $(1^{\sharp}, 2^{\sharp}_{\pm})$ denote that the evolution operator $\mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t)$ acts on the corresponding phase points (q_1, p_1^{\sharp}) and $(q_1 \pm \epsilon \eta, p_2^{\sharp})$, and the (n+1)th-order evolution operator $\mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, is determined by expansion (4.3) in the case of s = 2.

We note that in the work [47] for the initial-value problem (4.7),(4.8) the existence theorem was proved in the space of integrable functions. The accordance of the generalized Enskog equation (4.7) and of the Markovian Enskog-type kinetic equation was also established there. By the point, we remark that in the paper [97] the explicit soliton-like solutions of kinetic equation (4.7) were found.

Thus, if the initial state is specified by a one-particle distribution function on allowed configurations, then the evolution of many hard spheres governed by the dual BBGKY hierarchy (2.1) for reduced observables can be completely described by the generalized Enskog kinetic equation (4.7)and by a sequence of reduced functionals of the state (4.2).

We remark also that in the case of the initial state that involves correlations (3.18) considered approach permits to take into consideration the initial correlations in the kinetic equations [30, 52].

Further, we sketch out the Boltzmann–Grad scaling behavior of the non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation (4.7) and reduced state functional (4.2).

Taking into account the validity of assumption (3.11) for the initial oneparticle distribution function (3.10), in that case for a finite time interval, the Boltzmann–Grad limit of dimensionless solution (4.5) of the Cauchy problem of the non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation (4.7),(4.8) exists in the same sense, namely

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^2 F_1(t, x_1) - f_1(t, x_1) \right) = 0,$$

where the limit one-particle distribution function $f_1(t)$ is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann kinetic equation (3.15),(3.16).

Taking into consideration the fact of the existence of the Boltzmann– Grad scaling limit of a solution of the non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation (4.7), for reduced functionals of the state (4.2) the following statement holds [47]:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon^{2s} F_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s \mid F_1(t)) - \prod_{j=1}^s f_1(t, x_j) \right) = 0.$$

where the limit one-particle distribution function $f_1(t)$ is governed by the Boltzmann kinetic equation with hard sphere collisions (3.15). Because all possible correlations of many hard spheres with elastic collisions are described by reduced functionals of the state (4.2), as noted above, this property means the propagation of the initial chaos in the Boltzmann–Grad limit.

The proof of these statements is based on the properties of cumulants of asymptotically perturbed groups of operators (1.6) and the explicit structure (4.3) of the generating operators of series expansions (4.2) for reduced functional of state and of series (4.5).

4.2. Dynamics of correlations governed by kinetic equations. Let the initial state be specified by a one-particle reduced correlation function, namely, the initial state specified by a sequence of reduced correlation functions satisfying the chaos property stated above, i.e., by the sequence

$$G^{(c)} = (G_0, G_1^0, 0, \dots, 0, \dots).$$

We note that such an assumption about initial states is intrinsic to the contemporary kinetic theory of many-particle systems [14, 15].

Since the initial data $G^{(c)}$ is completely specified only by a one-particle correlation function, the Cauchy problem (2.60),(2.61) of the nonlinear hierarchy for hard spheres is not a completely well-defined Cauchy problem because the initial data is not independent for every unknown function determined of the hierarchy of mentioned evolution equations. As a consequence, it becomes possible to reformulate such a Cauchy problem as a new Cauchy problem for a one-particle correlation function with independent initial data and explicitly defined functionals of the solution of this Cauchy problem for the kinetic equation. We formulate such a restated Cauchy problem and the sequence of the suitable functionals. In the case under consideration, the reduced correlation functionals $G_s(t \mid G_1(t)), s \ge 2$, are represented with respect to the one-particle correlation function (2.64), i.e.,

$$G_{1}(t,x_{1}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{2} \cdots dx_{1+n} \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t,1,\ldots,n+1) \times \\ \times \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} G_{1}^{0}(x_{i}) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(n+1)} \setminus \mathbb{W}_{n+1}},$$
(4.9)

as the following series expansions:

$$G_{s}(t, x_{1}, \dots, x_{s} \mid G_{1}(t)) =$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3})^{n}} dx_{s+1} \cdots dx_{s+n} \times$$

$$\times \mathfrak{V}_{s+n}(t, 1, \dots, s+n) \prod_{i=1}^{s+n} G_{1}(t, x_{i}), \ s \ge 2.$$

$$(4.10)$$

The generating operator $\mathfrak{V}_{s+n}(t)$, $n \ge 0$, of the (s+n)th-order of this series is determined by the following expansion:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{V}_{s+n}(t,1,\ldots,s,s+1,\ldots,s+n) &= \\ &= n! \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} \sum_{n_{1}=1}^{n} \cdots \sum_{n_{k}=1}^{n-n_{1}-\ldots-n_{k-1}} \frac{1}{(n-n_{1}-\ldots-n_{k})!} \times \\ &\times \hat{\mathfrak{A}}_{s+n-n_{1}-\ldots-n_{k}}(t,1,\ldots,s+n-n_{1}-\ldots-n_{k}) \times \\ &\times \prod_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{D}_{j}:Z_{j}=\bigcup_{l_{j}}X_{l_{j}},\\ |\mathbf{D}_{j}|\leqslant s+n-n_{1}-\cdots-n_{j}}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{D}_{j}|!} \times \\ &\times \sum_{i_{1}\neq\ldots\neq i_{|\mathbf{D}_{j}|=1}}^{k} \prod_{X_{l_{j}}\subset\mathbf{D}_{j}} \frac{1}{|X_{l_{j}}|!} \hat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1+|X_{l_{j}}|}(t,i_{l_{j}},X_{l_{j}}), \end{split}$$
(4.11)

where $\sum_{\mathbf{D}_j: Z_j = \bigcup_{l_j} X_{l_j}}$ is the sum over all possible dissections of the linearly ordered set

$$Z_j \equiv (s + n - n_1 - \dots - n_j + 1, \dots, s + n - n_1 - \dots - n_{j-1})$$

on no more than $s + n - n_1 - \ldots - n_j$ linearly ordered subsets, the (s+n)th-order scattering cumulant is defined by the formula

$$\hat{\mathfrak{A}}_{s+n}(t,1,\ldots,s+n) \doteq \mathfrak{A}_{s+n}^*(t,1,\ldots,s+n) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(s+n)}\setminus\mathbb{W}_{s+n}} \prod_{i=1}^{s+n} (\mathfrak{A}_1^*)^{-1}(t,i),$$

and notations accepted above were used.

We adduce simplest examples of generating operators (4.11):

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{V}_{s}(t,1,\ldots,s) &= \mathfrak{A}_{s}(t,1,\ldots,s)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3s}\backslash\mathbb{W}_{s}}\prod_{i=1}^{s}(\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*})^{-1}(t,i),\\ \mathfrak{V}_{s+1}(t,1,\ldots,s,s+1) &= \mathfrak{A}_{s+1}(t,1,\ldots,s+1)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3(s+1)}\backslash\mathbb{W}_{s+1}}\prod_{i=1}^{s+1}(\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*})^{-1}(t,i) -\\ &- \mathfrak{A}_{s}(t,1,\ldots,s)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{3s}\backslash\mathbb{W}_{s}}\prod_{i=1}^{s}(\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*})^{-1}(t,i) \times\\ &\times \sum_{j=1}^{s}\mathfrak{A}_{2}(t,j,s+1)\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{6}\backslash\mathbb{W}_{2}}(\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*})^{-1}(t,j)(\mathfrak{A}_{1}^{*})^{-1}(t,s+1). \end{split}$$

If $||G_1(t)||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)} < e^{-(3s+2)}$, for arbitrary $t \in \mathbb{R}$ series (4.10) converges in the norm of the space L_s^1 [47].

We note that in the case of initial state specified by a one-particle correlation function the reduced correlation functionals (4.10) describe all possible correlations generated by the dynamics of many hard spheres in terms of a one-particle correlation function.

Thus, according to the representation (2.64) of reduced correlation functions, the cumulant structure of their generating operators induces a generalized cumulant structure of the generating operators for series (4.10) of reduced correlation functionals.

In this case, the method of constructing reduced correlation functionals (4.10) is based on the application of the variation of cluster expansions, the so-called kinetic cluster expansions [47], to generating operators (2.36)of series representing reduced correlation functions (2.64).

Indeed, taking into account relations of kinetic cluster expansions for scattering cumulants (4.4):

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{s+n}(t,1,\ldots,s+n) &= \sum_{n_1=0}^{n} \frac{n!}{(n-n_1)!} \mathfrak{V}_{s+n-n_1}(t,1,\ldots,s+n-n_1) \times \\ &\times \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{D}: Z = \bigcup_l X_l, \\ |\mathbf{D}| \leqslant s+n-n_1}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{D}|!} \sum_{i_1 \neq \ldots \neq i_{|\mathbf{D}|}=1}^{s+n-n_1} \prod_{X_l \subset \mathbf{D}} \frac{1}{|X_l|!} \, \widehat{\mathfrak{A}}_{1+|X_l|}(t,i_l,X_l), \end{aligned}$$

where $\sum_{D:Z=\bigcup_l X_l, |D| \leq s+n-n_1}$ is the sum over all possible dissections D of the linearly ordered set

$$Z \equiv (s+n-n_1+1,\ldots,s+n)$$

on no more than $s+n-n_1$ linearly ordered subsets, we derive the expansions of the reduced correlation functionals

$$G_s(t, x_1, \dots, x_s \mid G_1(t)), s \ge 2,$$

on the basis of solution expansions (2.64) of the hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations (2.60).

Note that the structure of kinetic cluster expansions of scattering cumulants of the groups of operators is similar to the structure of virial expansions of equilibrium distribution functions, i.e., as a power series in the density.

If initial data $G_1^0 \in L_1^1$, then for arbitrary $t \in \mathbb{R}$ one-particle correlation function (4.9) is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem of the non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation [53]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G_{1}(t,x_{1}) = \mathcal{L}^{*}(1)G_{1}(t,x_{1}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{2} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,2)G_{1}(t,x_{1})G_{1}(t,x_{2}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{2} \mathcal{L}_{int}^{*}(1,2)G_{2}(t,x_{1},x_{2} \mid G_{1}(t)),$$

$$G_{1}(t,x_{1})\big|_{t=0} = G_{1}^{0}(x_{1}),$$
(4.12)
(4.13)

where the first part of the collision integral in equation (4.12) has the Boltzmann–Enskog structure, and the second part of the collision integral is determined in terms of the two-particle correlation functional represented by series expansion (4.10) which describes all possible correlations that are created by hard-sphere dynamics and by the propagation of initial correlations related to the forbidden configurations.

In the paper [47], similar statements were proved for the state evolution of a hard-sphere system described in terms of reduced distribution functions governed by the BBGKY hierarchy. We emphasize that the *nth* term of expansions (4.10) of the reduced correlation functionals are determined by the (s+n)th-order generating operator (4.3) in contradistinction to the expansions of reduced distribution functionals of the state constructed in [47] which are determined by the (1+n)th-order generating operator (4.3).

Thus, for the initial state specified by a one-particle correlation function, the evolution of all possible states of the system of hard spheres can be described without any approximations within the framework of a one-particle correlation function governed by the non-Markovian Enskog-type kinetic equation (4.12), and by a sequence of explicitly defined functionals (4.10) of its solution.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the challenges of the evolution of many hard spheres with inelastic collisions will be reviewed, as will some applications of the methods outlined above to complex systems of various natures.

5.1. On the dynamics of inelastic collisions. According to contemporary concept [96, 99] on a microscopic scale, the characteristic properties of granular media are determined by dissipative collisional dynamics and can be described as the evolution of a system of many hard spheres with inelastic collisions.

Since the characteristic features of the collective behavior of inelastically colliding particles in one-dimensional space reflect the main properties of granular gases, an approach to the rigorous derivation of the Boltzmann-type equation for one-dimensional granular gases will be presented below. We note that, in contrast to the system of hard rods with inelastic collisions, in one-dimensional space the evolution of hard rods with elastic collisions is trivial in the Boltzmann–Grad scaling limit; it is known as so-called free molecular motion or the Knudsen flow [14].

In the case of a one-dimensional granular gas for $t \ge 0$ in dimensionless form the Cauchy problem of the non-Markovian generalized Enskog kinetic equation (4.7),(4.8) takes the form [37, 42, 43]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F_{1}(t,q_{1},p_{1}) = -p_{1}\frac{\partial}{\partial q_{1}}F_{1}(t,q_{1},p_{1}) + \\
+ \int_{0}^{\infty} dP P\Big(\frac{1}{(1-2\varepsilon)^{2}}F_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1}^{\diamond}(p_{1},P),q_{1}-\epsilon,p_{2}^{\diamond}(p_{1},P) \mid F_{1}(t)) - \\
-F_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1},q_{1}-\epsilon,p_{1}+P \mid F_{1}(t))\Big) + \\
+ \int_{0}^{\infty} dP P\Big(\frac{1}{(1-2\varepsilon)^{2}}F_{2}(t,q_{1},\tilde{p}_{1}^{\diamond}(p_{1},P),q_{1}+\epsilon,\tilde{p}_{2}^{\diamond}(p_{1},P) \mid F_{1}(t)) - \\
-F_{2}(t,q_{1},p_{1},q_{1}+\epsilon,p_{1}-P \mid F_{1}(t))\Big),$$
(5.1)

$$F_1(t)|_{t=0} = F_1^{\epsilon,0},\tag{5.2}$$

where $\varepsilon = \frac{1-e}{2} \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ and $e \in (0, 1]$ is a restitution coefficient, $\epsilon > 0$ is a scaling parameter (the ratio of a hard sphere diameter (the length) $\sigma > 0$ to the mean free path), the collision integral is determined by reduced functional (4.2) of the state $F_1(t)$ in the case of s = 2 and the expressions:

$$p_1^{\diamond}(p_1, P) = p_1 - P + \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} P,$$

$$p_2^{\diamond}(p_1, P) = p_1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} P$$

and the expressions

$$\tilde{p}_1^{\diamond}(p_1, P) = p_1 + P - \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} P,$$

$$\tilde{p}_2^{\diamond}(p_1, P) = p_1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} P,$$

are transformed pre-collision momenta of inelastically colliding particles in a one-dimensional space.

The solution of the Cauchy problem (5.1),(5.2) is represented by the following series:

$$F_{1}^{\epsilon}(t,x_{1}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}} dx_{2} \cdots dx_{n+1} \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^{*}(t) \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} F_{1}^{\epsilon,0}(x_{i}) \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}^{(1+n)} \setminus \mathbb{W}_{1+n}}, \quad (5.3)$$

where the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^*(t)$ is the (1+n)th-order cumulant (2.22) of the semigroups of operators (1.6) of inelastically colliding hard rods in a one-dimensional space. Let the initial one-particle distribution function satisfy the following condition: $|F_1^{\epsilon,0}(x_1)| \leq Ce^{-\frac{\beta}{2}p_1^2}$, where $\beta > 0$ is a parameter and $C < \infty$ is some constant. Then every term of series (5.3) exists; for a finite time interval it is the uniformly convergent series with respect to x_1 from an arbitrary compact, and function (5.3) is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (5.1),(5.2) of the non-Markovian Enskogtype equation with inelastic collisions.

We assume that, in the sense of weak convergence, there exists a limit

$$w - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(F_1^{\epsilon,0}(x_1) - f_1^0(x_1) \right) = 0.$$

Then, for a finite time interval, the Boltzmann–Grad limit of solution (5.3) of the Cauchy problem of the non-Markovian Enskog-type equation for a one-dimensional granular gas (5.1) exists in the sense of a weak convergence

$$w - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(F_1^{\epsilon}(t, x_1) - f_1(t, x_1) \right) = 0,$$
 (5.4)

where the limit of one-particle distribution function (5.3) is determined by the following series uniformly convergent on an arbitrary compact set

$$f_1(t,x_1) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} dx_2 \cdots dx_{n+1} \mathfrak{A}^0_{1+n}(t) \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} f^0_1(x_i),$$
(5.5)

and the generating operator $\mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^0(t) \equiv \mathfrak{A}_{1+n}^0(t, 1, \ldots, n+1)$ is the (n+1)th-order cumulant of semigroups (1.6) of point particles with inelastic collisions. For $t \ge 0$ an infinitesimal generator of this semigroup of operators is

determined by the operator:

$$(\mathcal{L}_{n}^{*,0}f_{n})(x_{1},...,x_{n}) = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{j}} f_{n}(x_{1},...,x_{n}) + \\ + \sum_{j_{1} < j_{2}=1}^{n} |p_{j_{2}} - p_{j_{1}}| \delta(q_{j_{1}} - q_{j_{2}}) \times \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{(1 - 2\varepsilon)^{2}} f_{n}(x_{1},...,x_{j_{1}}^{\diamond},...,x_{j_{2}}^{\diamond},...,x_{n}) - f_{n}(x_{1},...,x_{n})\right),$$

where $x_j^{\diamond} \equiv (q_j, p_j^{\diamond})$ and the pre-collision momenta $p_{j_1}^{\diamond}, p_{j_2}^{\diamond}$ of inelastically colliding particles are determined by the following expressions:

$$p_{j_1}^{\diamond} = p_{j_2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} (p_{j_1} - p_{j_2}),$$

$$p_{j_2}^{\diamond} = p_{j_1} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2\varepsilon - 1} (p_{j_1} - p_{j_2}).$$

For $t \ge 0$ the limit one-particle distribution function represented by series (5.5) is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem of the Boltzmann-type kinetic equation of point particles with inelastic collisions [43]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}f_{1}(t,q,p) = -p\frac{\partial}{\partial q}f_{1}(t,q,p) + \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dp_{1}|p-p_{1}| \times \left(\frac{1}{(1-2\varepsilon)^{2}}f_{1}(t,q,p^{\diamond})f_{1}(t,q,p^{\diamond}) - f_{1}(t,q,p)f_{1}(t,q,p_{1})\right) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{0}^{(n)}.$$
(5.6)

In kinetic equation (5.6) the remainder $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_0^{(n)}$ of the collision integral is determined by the following expressions:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{0}^{(n)} &\equiv \frac{1}{n!} \int_{0}^{\infty} dP P \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}} dq_{3} dp_{3} \cdots dq_{n+2} dp_{n+2} \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t) \times \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(1-2\varepsilon)^{2}} f_{1}(t,q,p_{1}^{\diamond}(p,P)) f_{1}(t,q,p_{2}^{\diamond}(p,P)) - f_{1}(t,q,p) f_{1}(t,q,p+P) \right) \times \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} dP P \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}} dq_{3} dp_{3} \cdots dq_{n+2} dp_{n+2} \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t) \times \\ &\times \left(\frac{1}{(1-2\varepsilon)^{2}} f_{1}(t,q,\tilde{p}_{1}^{\diamond}(p,P)) f_{1}(t,q,\tilde{p}_{2}^{\diamond}(p,P)) - f_{1}(t,q,p) f_{1}(t,q,p-P) \right) \times \\ &\times \prod_{i=3}^{n+2} F_{1}(t,q_{i},p_{i}), \end{split}$$

where the generating operators

$$\mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t) \equiv \mathfrak{V}_{1+n}(t, \{1, 2\}, 3, \dots, n+2), \ n \ge 0,$$

of the series for a collision integral are represented by expansions (4.3) with respect to the cumulants of semigroups of scattering operators of point hard rods with inelastic collisions in a one-dimensional space

$$\hat{S}_n^0(t, 1, \dots, n) \doteq S_n^{*,0}(t, 1, \dots, s) \prod_{i=1}^n (S_1^{*,0})^{-1}(t, i)$$

In fact, series expansions for the collision integral of the non-Markovian Enskog equation for a granular gas (5.6) or solution (5.3) are represented as the power series over the density, so that the terms $\mathcal{I}_0^{(n)}$, $n \ge 1$, of the collision integral in kinetic equation (5.6) are corrections with respect to the density to the Boltzmann collision integral of one-dimensional granular gases formulated in the paper [96].

Since the scattering operator of point hard rods is an identity operator in the approximation of elastic collisions, namely, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, the collision integral of the Boltzmann kinetic equation (5.6) in a one-dimensional space is identical to zero. In the quasi-elastic approximation [96] the limit one-particle distribution function (5.5)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon f_1(t, q, p) = f^0(t, q, p),$$

satisfies the nonlinear friction kinetic equation for one-dimensional granular gases [96]:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}f^{0}(t,q,p) = -p\frac{\partial}{\partial q}f^{0}(t,q,p) + \\ + \frac{\partial}{\partial p}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dp_{1} |p_{1} - p| (p_{1} - p) f^{0}(t,q,p_{1})f^{0}(t,q,p).$$

Taking into consideration the result (5.4) on the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of the non-Markovian Enskog equation (5.1), for reduced functionals of the state (4.2) in a one-dimensional space, the following statement is true [43]:

$$w - \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(F_s(t, x_1, ..., x_s \mid F_1^{\epsilon}(t)) - f_s(t, x_1, ..., x_s \mid f_1(t)) \right) = 0, \ s \ge 2, \ (5.7)$$

where in equality (5.7) the limit reduced functionals of the limit one-particle distribution function (5.5) are determined by the series expansions with a structure similar to series (4.2) and the generating operators represented by expansions (4.3) over the cumulants of semigroups of scattering operators of point hard rods with inelastic collisions in a one-dimensional space.

As mentioned above, in the case of a system of hard rods with elastic collisions, the limit reduced functionals of the state are the product of the limit one-particle distribution functions, describing the free motion of point particles.

Thus, the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of solution (5.3) of the non-Markovian Enskog equation (5.1) is governed by the Boltzmann kinetic equation (5.6) for a one-dimensional granular gas.

We emphasize that the Boltzmann-type equation (5.6) describes the memory effects in a one-dimensional granular gas. In addition, the limit of reduced functionals of the state $f_s(t, x_1, \ldots, x_s \mid f_1(t))$, $s \ge 2$, which are defined above, describe the process of the propagation of initial chaos in a one-dimensional granular gas, or, in other words, the process of creating correlations in a system of hard rods with inelastic collisions.

It should be noted that the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of the non-Markovian Enskog equation with inelastic collisions in a multidimensional space is analogous to the Boltzmann–Grad asymptotic behavior of a hard sphere system with the elastic collisions [43], i.e., it is governed by the Boltzmann equation for a granular gas [98,99], and the asymptotic behavior of the reduced functionals of the state (4.2) is described by the product of one-particle distribution functions of its solution, i.e., describes the propagation of initial chaos.

5.2. Some bibliographic notes on collisional dynamics. Above, it was studied systems of identical colliding particles, which are described by means of functions of observables and distribution functions, which are symmetrical with respect to arbitrary permutations of their arguments. In papers [32,33,67,70,82], the theory of the hierarchies of evolution equations for systems of many colliding particles described by non-symmetric functions was developed. An example of such a system is a one-dimensional system of particles interacting with their nearest neighbors, so-called non-symmetric systems of particles [32].

As is known, many-entity systems of active soft condensed matter are dynamic systems exhibiting a collective behavior that differs from the statistical behavior of ordinary gases. To describe the nature of entities (or selfpropelled particles), in the paper [78], collision dynamics based on Markov jump processes, which should reflect the internal properties of living creatures, were proposed. In works [36, 45] an approach was developed to describe the collective behavior of complex systems of mathematical biology within the framework of the evolution of observables of many colliding stochastic processes, and the dual Vlasov hierarchy was constructed in the mean field approximation. This representation of the kinetic evolution seems, in fact, to be the direct mathematically fully consistent formulation modeling the kinetic evolution of biological systems, since the notion of the state is more subtle and is an implicit characteristic of populations of living creatures. In the paper [36] the processes of creation of correlations generated by the dynamics of active soft matter and propagation of initial correlations have also been described by means of the non-Markovian generalized kinetic equation with initial correlations, and, in particular, in the mean-field scaling approximation, the Vlasov-type kinetic equation for many colliding stochastic processes was constructed.

The study of systems of colliding particles in interaction with the environment, the so-called open systems, involves a number of unsolved fundamental problems. One of them is related to the challenge of the origin of stochastic behavior in dynamical systems of many particles. In papers [48–50], based on the approaches to the derivation of kinetic equations outlined above, a generalization of the Fokker–Planck equation for open systems of colliding particles was justified.

In previous decades, a lot of work has been performed on discrete-velocity models of the Boltzmann equation, which are of significant conceptual interest for the kinetic theory of gases and, at the same time, represent a fascinating mathematical subject [84]. In connection with this topic of research, we note the works [39–41,54], in which the discrete-velocity model was studied, related to the problem of deriving a model of the Enskog discrete-velocity kinetic equation.

An overview of some modern applications of kinetic equations to the description of non-equilibrium processes in complex systems of various natures is presented in the monograph [23].

5.3. **Outlook.** The purpose of this review was to analyze the development and current advances of the theory of evolution equations for systems of many colliding particles, in particular, kinetic equations and their relations to the fundamental equations that describe the laws of nature.

The problem of constructing a solution to the Cauchy problem for hierarchies of evolution equations of observables (2.1) and the state (2.17) of a system of hard spheres with elastic collisions for initial data belonging to some functional spaces is considered. As was established, solutions of hierarchies of evolution equations are determined by groups of operators, which are represented by expansions over the groups of particles whose evolution is described by cumulants of the corresponding order of the groups of operators of the Liouville equations. Due to the fact that the cumulants of the groups of operators are determined by cluster expansions of the groups of operators of the Liouville equations, in the corresponding function spaces there are different representations for solutions to the hierarchies of evolution equations. These cluster expansions of the groups of operators underlie the classification of possible solution representations to the Cauchy problem for the hierarchies of evolution equations of many colliding particles.

To describe the evolution of the state of a many-particle system, there is an alternative approach that is based on the dynamics of correlations. In this approach, a state of finitely many hard spheres is described with the employment of functions determined by the cluster expansions of the probability distribution functions that are governed by the so-called Liouville hierarchy (2.31). It was above established that the constructed dynamics of correlation underlie the description of the dynamics of infinitely many hard spheres governed by the BBGKY hierarchy for reduced distribution functions (2.17) or the hierarchy of nonlinear evolution equations for reduced correlation functions (2.60), i.e., of the cumulants of reduced distribution functions. We emphasize the importance of the mathematical description of the processes of the creation and propagation of correlations, in particular, for numerous applications [2, 3, 86].

To describe the evolution of many hard spheres within the framework of the evolution of states for an initial state close to "kinetic," i.e., a state described in terms of the state of a typical particle, there is another possibility: by means of the so-called non-Markovian Enskog kinetic equation (4.7). In other words, the origin of the collective behavior of a hard-sphere system on a microscopic scale was examined above. As already mentioned, one of the advantages of such an approach to the derivation of kinetic equations from underlying collisional dynamics is the opportunity to construct the kinetic equations with initial correlations, which makes it possible to describe the creation of correlations and propagation of initial correlations. Another advantage of this approach is related to the rigorous derivation of the Boltzmann equation (3.15) with higher-order corrections to the canonical term of the collision integral.

Thus, the concept of cumulants of the groups of operators of Liouville equations underlies non-perturbative expansions of solutions to hierarchies of fundamental evolution equations that describe the evolution of observables and a state of many colliding particles, as well as underlies the kinetic description of their collective behavior. We note that for quantum many-particle systems the concept of cumulants of groups of operators is considered in review [38].

In the paper, possible approaches to the rigorous derivation [35] and justification [62, 63] of the kinetic equations for many colliding particles were considered. One of them is an approach to the description of the kinetic evolution within the framework of the evolution of the observables of many colliding particles [51]. The advances of the method based on the dual Boltzmann hierarchy (3.8) are the opportunity to construct kinetic

equations (3.21), taking into account the correlations of particles of the initial state, and the description of the process of propagation of initial correlations in scaling approximations (3.24).

The paper [69] considered the challenge of deriving hydrodynamic equations from the dual BBGKY hierarchy for reduced observed microscopic phase densities. We notice that the rigorous derivation of hydrodynamic equations from the dynamics of many colliding particles is still an open problem. Regarding the classical problem of rigorous derivation of the hydrodynamic equations from the Boltzmann kinetic equation in scaling limits, we refer to the books [72, 93].

Acknowledgements. Glory to Ukraïne!

References

- R. Balescu. Dynamical correlation patterns: a new representation of the Liouville equation. *Physica*, 56(1):1–24, 1971. doi:10.1016/0031-8914(71)90002-4.
- [2] T. Bodineau, I. Gallagher, L. Saint-Raymond, and S. Simonella. Fluctuation theory in the Boltzmann–Grad limit. J. Stat. Phys., 180:873–895, 2020. doi:10.1007/ s10955-020-02549-5.
- [3] T. Bodineau, I. Gallagher, L. Saint-Raymond, and S. Simonella. Cluster expansion for a dilute hard sphere gas dynamics. J. Math. Phys., 63:073301, 2022. doi:10.1063/ 5.0091199.
- [4] T. Bodineau, I. Gallagher, L. Saint-Raymond, and S. Simonella. On the dynamics of dilute gases. *Eur. Math. Soc. Mag.*, 2023. doi:10.4171/MAG/124.
- [5] M. M. Bogolyubov. Equations of hydrodynamics in statistical mechanics. Proc. Inst. Math. AN USSR, 10:41–59, 1948 (in Ukrainian).
- [6] N. N. Bogolyubov. Problems of the dynamical theory in statistical physics. Gostechizdat, M., 1946. URL: https://books.google.com.ua/books?id=GUE6AQAAIAAJ.
- [7] N. N. Bogolyubov, D. Ya. Petrina, and B. I. Khatset. Mathematical description of the equilibrium state of classical systems on the basis of the canonical ensemble formalism. *Theor. Math. Phys.*, 1:194–212, 1969. doi:10.1007/BF01028046.
- [8] N. N. Bogolyubov, D. Ya. Petrina, and B. I. Khatset. Mathematical description of the equilibrium state of classical systems on the basis of the canonical ensemble formalism. *Ukrainian J. Phys.*, 53:168–184, 2008.
- [9] L. E. Boltzmann. Weitere studien über das wärmegleichgewicht unter gasmolekülen. Sitzungsber. Akad. Wiss., 66:275—370, 1872.
- [10] G. Borgioli and V. I. Gerasimenko. The dual BBGKY hierarchy for the evolution of observables. *Riv. Mat. Univ. Parma*, 4:251–267, 2001.
- [11] M. Born and H. S. Green. A general kinetic theory of liquids. I. The molecular distribution functions. Proc. Royal Soci. of London. Ser. A, 188(1012):10–18, 1946. doi:10.1098/rspa.1946.0093.
- [12] C. Cercignani. On the Boltzmann equation for rigid spheres. Transport Theory and Statistical Physics, 2(3):211–225, 1972. doi:10.1080/00411457208232538.
- [13] C. Cercignani. The Boltzmann Equation and Its Applications. Springer, NY, 1987. doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-1039-9.

- [14] C. Cercignani, V. I. Gerasimenko, and D. Ya. Petrina. Many-particle Dynamics and Kinetic Equations. Springer, (Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1st ed. 1997), 2012. doi:10.1007/978-94-011-5558-8.
- [15] C. Cercignani, R. Illner, and M. Pulvirenti. The mathematical theory of dilute gases. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-8524-8.
- [16] S. T. Choh and G. E. Uhlenbeck. The kinetic theory of phenomena in dense gases. University of Michigan, 1958.
- [17] E. G. D. Cohen. Cluster expansions and the hierarchy: I. Non-equilibrium distribution functions. *Physica*, 28:1045–1059, 1962. doi:10.1016/0031-8914(62)90009-5.
- [18] E. G. D. Cohen. Bogolyubov and kinetic theory: the Bogolyubov equations. Ukrainian J. Phys., 54(8-9):847–861, 2009.
- [19] R. Dautray and J.-L. Lions. Mathematical Analysis and Numerical Methods for Science and Technology. Vol.5: Evolution Problems I. Berlin etc.: Springer-Verlag, 1992.
- [20] R. Denlinger. The propagation of chaos for a rarefied gas of hard spheres in the whole space. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 229(2):885–952, 2018. doi:10.1007/ s00205-018-1229-1.
- [21] R. L. Dobrushin, Y. G. Sinai, and Y. M. Sukhov. Dynamical systems of statistical mechanics. In Y. G. Sinai, editor, *Dynamical Systems II: Ergodic Theory with Applications to Dynamical Systems and Statistical Mechanics*, pages 208–254. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1989. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-06788-8_10.
- [22] J. R. Dorfman and M. H. Ernst. Hard-sphere binary-collision operators. J. Stat. Phys., 57:581–593, 1989. doi:10.1007/BF01022823.
- [23] J. R. Dorfman, H. van Beijeren, and T. R. Kirkpatrick. Contemporary Kinetic Theory of Matter. Cambridge University Press, 2021. doi:10.1017/9781139025942.
- [24] M. Duerinckx. On the size of chaos via Glauber calculus in the classical mean-field dynamics. Commun. Math. Phys., 382:613–653, 2021. doi:10.1007/ s00220-021-03978-3.
- [25] M. Duerinckx and L. Saint-Raymond. The propagation of chaos for a rarefied gas of hard spheres in the whole space. *Probab. Math. Phys.*, 2(1):27–69, 2021. doi: 10.2140/pmp.2021.2.27.
- [26] D. Enskog. Kinetische theorie der wärmeleitung, reibung und selbstdiffusion in gewissen verdichteten gasen und flüssigkeiten. Kungl. Sv. Vetenskapsakademiens Handl., 63(4):3–44, 1922.
- [27] M. H. Ernst. Bogoliubov Choh Uhlenbeck theory: Cradle of modern kinetic theory. In *Progress in Statistical Physics*, pages 3–27. World Sci. Publ. Company, Singapore, 1998. doi:10.1142/9789814528399.
- [28] I. Gallagher. From Newton to Navier–Stokes, or how to connect fluid mechanics equations from microscopic to macroscopic scales. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 56:65–85, 2019. doi:10.1090/bull/1650.
- [29] I. Gallagher, L. Saint-Raymond, and B. Texier. From Newton to Boltzmann: hard spheres and short-range potentials. Zurich Lectures in Advanced Mathematics. EMS, Zürich, 2013.
- [30] I. V. Gapyak. The kinetic equations of a hard sphere system with initial correlations. *Proc. Inst. Math. NASU*, 11(1):166–177, 2014.
- [31] I. V. Gapyak and V. I. Gerasimenko. Hierarchy of evolution equations for correlations of hard-sphere fluids. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (3):3–12, 2022. doi:10.15407/ dopovidi2022.02.003.
- [32] V. I. Gerasimenko. Evolution of infinite particle systems interacting with nearest neighbors. *Reports of Acad. Sci. Ukrainian SSR*, (5):10–13, 1982.
- [33] V. I. Gerasimenko. Nonequilibrium dynamics of a hard rod system. In Proc. Inst. of Math.: "Methods of mathematical physics of infinite particle systems", pages 21–30. IM, Kyiv, 1991.
- [34] V. I. Gerasimenko. On a solution of the BBGKY hierarchy for a one-dimensional hardsphere system. Theor. Math. Phys., 91(1):410–417, 1992. doi:10.1007/BF01019833.
- [35] V. I. Gerasimenko. On the approaches to the derivation of the Boltzmann equation with hard sphere collisions. Proc. Inst. Math. NASU, 10(2):71–95, 2013. doi:10. 48550/arXiv.1308.1789.
- [36] V. I. Gerasimenko. Kinetic equations of active soft matter. In *Kinetic Theory*, pages 71–88. InTech, London, 2018. doi:10.5772/intechopen.70667.
- [37] V. I. Gerasimenko. Kinetic equations of granular media. In Progress in Fine Particle Plasmas, pages 163–177. InTech, London, 2020. doi:10.5772/intechopen.90027.
- [38] V. I. Gerasimenko. Nonlinear kinetic equations of quantum systems. Proc. Inst. Math. NASU, 17(2):82–112, 2020. doi:10.48550/arXiv.2107.10872.
- [39] V. I. Gerasimenko, G. Borgioli, and G. Lauro. Derivation of a discrete Enskog equation from the dynamics of particles. *Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Pol. Torino*, 56(2):59–69, 1998.
- [40] V. I. Gerasimenko, G. Borgioli, G. Lauro, and R. Monaco. Many particles dynamical system formulation for the discrete Enskog gas. *Transp. Theory and Stat. Phys.*, 25(3/4):581–592, 1996. doi:10.1080/00411459608220724.
- [41] V. I. Gerasimenko, G. Borgioli, G. Lauro, and R. Monaco. A discrete velocity model of a gas: global in time solutions of the BBGKY hierarchy. *Reports on Math. Phys.*, 40(3):431-442, 1997. doi:10.1016/S0034-4877(97)85892-2.
- [42] V. I. Gerasimenko and M. S. Borovchenkova. The Boltzmann–Grad limit of the Enskog equation of one-dimensional granular gases. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (10):11–17, 2013.
- [43] V. I. Gerasimenko and M. S. Borovchenkova. On the non-Markovian Enskog equation for granular gases. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 47(3):035001, 2014. doi:10.1088/ 1751-8113/47/3/035001.
- [44] V. I. Gerasimenko and Yu. Yu. Fedchun. Nonperturbative solution expansions of hierarchies of evolution equations in functional derivatives. Proc. Inst. Math. NASU, 9(2):347-375, 2012. doi:10.48550/arXiv.1107.0823.
- [45] V. I. Gerasimenko and Yu. Yu. Fedchun. On semigroups of large particle systems and their scaling asymptotic behavior. In Semigroups of Operators – Theory and Applications, pages 165–182. Springer, N.Y., 2015. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-12145-1_10.
- [46] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. On the evolution of observables and the Enskog kinetic equation. Math. Bulletin Sh. Sci. Soc., 8(2):283–298, 2011.
- [47] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. Hard sphere dynamics and the Enskog equation. *Kinetic and Related Models*, 5(3):459–484, 2012. doi:10.3934/krm.2012.5.459.
- [48] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. The generalized Fokker–Planck equation for the Enskog gas. Math. Bulletin Shevchenko Sci. Soc., 9:23–43, 2014.
- [49] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. The non-Markovian Fokker-Planck kinetic equation for a system of hard spheres. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (12):29–35, 2014. doi:10.15407/dopovidi2014.12.029.
- [50] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. The Fokker–Planck equation with initial correlations in collisional kinetic theory. *Bukovina Math. J.*, 3(3–4):52–58, 2015.
- [51] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. Low-density asymptotic behavior of observables of hard sphere fluids. Advances in Math. Phys., 2018:1–11, 2018. doi:10.1155/2018/ 6252919.

- [52] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. Boltzmann-Grad asymptotic behavior of collisional dynamics. *Reviews in Math. Phys.*, 33(2):2130001, 2021. doi:10.1142/ s0129055x21300016.
- [53] V. I. Gerasimenko and I. V. Gapyak. Propagation of correlations in a hard-sphere system. J Stat. Phys., 189(2), 2022. doi:10.1007/s10955-022-02958-8.
- [54] V. I. Gerasimenko and V. V. Gorunovich. Bogolyubov equations for the discrete model of a one-dimensional particle system. *Reports of Acad. Sci. Ukrainian SSR*, (8):34–38, 1991.
- [55] V. I. Gerasimenko and A. G. Kornienko. The Boltzmann kinetic equation with correlations for hard sphere fluids. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (3):17–23, 2015. doi:10.15407/dopovidi2015.03.017.
- [56] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. Evolution of states of infinite systems in classical statistical mechanics. In *Sov. Sci. Rev., sect. C: Math. Phys. Rev.*, volume 5, pages 1–52. Harwood Acad. Publ., N.Y., 1985.
- [57] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. Thermodynamic limit of nonequilibrium states of a three-dimensional hard sphere system. *Doklady of Acad. Sci. USSR*, 282(1):57–60, 1985.
- [58] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. Thermodynamic limit of nonequilibrium states of a three-dimensional system of elastic spheres. *Theor. Math. Phys.*, 64:734–747, 1985. doi:10.1007/BF01017041.
- [59] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. The Boltzmann–Grad limit of states of an infinite hard sphere system. *Doklady of Acad. Sci. USSR*, 297(2):336–340, 1987.
- [60] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. The Boltzmann–Grad limit of equilibrium states. *Reports of Acad. Sci. Ukrainian SSR*, (12):17–19, 1988.
- [61] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. Existence of the Boltzmann–Grad limit for an infinite system of hard spheres. *Theor. Math. Phys.*, 83:402–418, 1990. doi:10.1007/ BF01019139.
- [62] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. On the generalized kinetic equation. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (7):7–12, 1997.
- [63] V. I. Gerasimenko and D. Ya. Petrina. The generalized kinetic equation generated by the BBGKY hierarchy. Ukrainian J. Phys., 43(6/7):697–702, 1998.
- [64] V. I. Gerasimenko, D. Ya. Petrina, and P. V. Malyshev. Mathematical Foundations of Classical Statistical Mechanics: Continuous Systems. Taylor and Francis Sci. Publ., London, 2nd ed. (Gordon and Breach Sci. Publ., N.Y., 1nd ed. 1989), 2002. doi: 10.1201/9781482265026.
- [65] V. I. Gerasimenko and T. V. Ryabukha. Cumulant representation of solutions of the BBGKY hierarchy of equations. Ukrainian Math. J., 54:1583–1601, 2002. doi: 10.1023/A:1023771917748.
- [66] V. I. Gerasimenko and T. V. Ryabukha. On the dual nonequilibrium cluster expansion. *Reports of Acad. Sci. Ukrainian SSR*, (3):16–22, 2003.
- [67] V. I. Gerasimenko, T. V. Ryabukha, and M. O. Stashenko. On the structure of expansions for the BBGKY hierarchy solutions. J Phys. A: Math. General, 37(42):9861–9872, 2004. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/37/42/002.
- [68] V. I. Gerasimenko and V. O. Shtyk. Bogolyubov's principle of weakening correlations for an infinite system of hard spheres. *Reports of NAS of Ukraine*, (3):7–13, 2008.
- [69] V. I. Gerasimenko, V. O. Shtyk, and A. G. Zagorodny. Hydrodynamic equations for microscopic phase densities. *Cent. Eur. J. Phys.*, 9(1), 2011. doi:10.2478/ s11534-010-0033-9.

- [70] V. I. Gerasimenko and M. O. Stashenko. Nonequilibrium cluster expansion of nonsymmetric particle systems. Sci. Bulletin of Volyn Univ., (4):5–13, 2003.
- [71] J. W. Gibbs. Elementary principles in statistical mechanics developed with especial reference to the rational foundation of thermodynamics. C. Scribner, NY, 1902. doi: 10.5962/bhl.title.32624.
- [72] F. Golse. The Boltzmann equation and its hydrodynamic limits. In *Handbook of Dif-ferential Equations Evolutionary Equations*, volume 2, pages 159–301. North-Holland, 2005. doi:10.1016/S1874-5717(06)80006-X.
- [73] H. Grad. On the kinetic theory of rarefied gases. Commun. on Pure and Appl. Math., 2(4):331-407, 1949. doi:10.1002/cpa.3160020403.
- [74] M. S. Green. Boltzmann equation from the statistical mechanical point of view. J. Chem. Phys., 25(5):836-855, 1956. doi:10.1063/1.1743132.
- [75] M. S. Green and R. A. Piccirelli. Basis of the functional assumption in the theory of the Boltzmann equation. *Phys. Rev.*, 132:1388–1410, 1963. doi:10.1103/PhysRev. 132.1388.
- [76] D. Hilbert. Begründung der kinetischen gastheorie. Math. Ann., 72:562–577, 1912. doi:10.1007/BF01456676.
- [77] J. G. Kirkwood. The statistical mechanical theory of transport processes II. Transport in gases. J Chem. Phys., 15(1):72–76, 1947. doi:10.1063/1.1746292.
- [78] M. Lachowicz. Individually-based markov processes modeling nonlinear systems in mathematical biology. *Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications*, 12(4):2396–2407, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.nonrwa.2011.02.014.
- [79] O. E. Lanford, III. Time evolution of large classical systems. In Dynamical systems, theory and applications, pages 1–111. Lecture Notes in Phys., v. 38. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1975. doi:10.1007/3-540-07171-7-1.
- [80] R. M. Lewis. Solution of the equations of statistical mechanics. J. Math. Phys., 2:222– 231, 1961. doi:10.1063/1.1703703.
- [81] D. Ya. Petrina. Mathematical description of the evolution of infinite systems of classical statistical physics. i. Locally perturbed one-dimensional systems. *Theor. Math. Phys.*, 38:153–166, 1979. doi:10.1007/BF01016837.
- [82] D. Ya. Petrina and V. I. Gerasimenko. A mathematical description of the evolution of the state of infinite systems of classical statistical mechanics. *Rus. Math. Surveys*, 38(5):1–61, 1983. doi:10.1070/RM1983v038n05ABEH003499.
- [83] D. Ya. Petrina and V. I. Gerasimenko. Mathematical problems of statistical mechanics of a system of elastic balls. *Rus. Math. Surveys*, 45(3):153–211, 1990. doi:10.1070/ rm1990v045n03abeh002360.
- [84] T. Platkowski and R. Illner. Discrete velocity models of the Boltzmann equation: A survey on the mathematical aspects of the theory. SIAM Review, 30(2):213–255, 1988. doi:10.1137/1030045.
- [85] Henri Poincaré. The principles of mathematical physics. The Monist, 15(1):1-24, 1905. doi:10.5840/monist190515137.
- [86] I. Prigogine. Non-Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics. N.Y.: John Wiley & Sons, 1962.
- [87] M. Pulvirenti, Saffirio C., and S. Simonella. On the validity of the Boltzmann equation for short range potentials. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 26(2):1450001, 2014. doi:10.1142/ S0129055X14500019.
- [88] M. Pulvirenti and S. Simonella. Propagation of chaos and effective equations in kinetic theory: a brief survey. *Math. and Mech. of Complex Systems*, 4(3-4):255-274, 2016. doi:10.2140/memocs.2016.4.255.

- [89] M. Pulvirenti and S. Simonella. The Boltzmann–Grad limit of a hard sphere system: analysis of the correlation error. *Invent. Math.*, 207:1135–1237, 2017. doi:10.1007/ s00222-016-0682-4.
- [90] D. Ruelle. Statistical Mechanics: Rigorous Results. Amsterdam: W.A. Benjamin, Inc., 1969.
- [91] T. V. Ryabukha. On mean-value of observales functionals of one-dimensional infinite particle systems. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 162(3):352–365, 2010. doi:10.1007/ s11232-010-0028-0.
- [92] Ch. Saffirio. Derivation of the Boltzmann equation: Hard spheres, short-range potentials and beyond. In From Particle Systems to Partial Differential Equations III, pages 301–321. Springer Inter. Publ., 2016. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32144-8_15.
- [93] L. Saint-Raymond. Hydrodynamic Limits of the Boltzmann Equation. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-92847-8.
- [94] S. Simonella. Evolution of correlation functions in the hard sphere dynamics. J. Stat. Phys., 155(6):1191–1221, 2014. doi:10.1007/s10955-013-0905-7.
- [95] H. Spohn. Large Scale Dynamics of Interacting Particles. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-84371-6.
- [96] G. Toscani. Kinetic and hydrodynamic models of nearly elastic granular flows. Monatschefte für Mathematik, 142:179–192, 2004. doi:10.1007/ s00605-004-0241-8.
- [97] A. Trushechkin. Microscopic and soliton-like solutions of the Boltzmann–Enskog and generalized Enskog equations for elastic and inelastic hard spheres. *Kinet. Relat. Mod*els, 7(4):755–778, 2014. doi:10.3934/krm.2014.7.755.
- [98] C. Villani. A review of mathematical topics in collisional kinetic theory. In Handbook of Mathematical Fluid Dynamics, volume 1, pages 71–74. North-Holland, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S1874-5792(02)80004-0.
- [99] C. Villani. Mathematics of granular materials. J. Stat. Phys., 124(2-4):781-822, 2006. doi:10.1007/s10955-006-9038-6.
- [100] J. Yvon. La théorie statistique des fluides et l'équation d'état. Hermann&cie, Paris, 1935.

V. I. Gerasimenko

INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS OF NAS OF UKRAINE, KYIV Email: gerasym@imath.kiev.ua ORCID: 0000-0003-2577-2237

I. V. Gapyak TARAS SHEVCHENKO NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF KYIV Email: gapjak@ukr.net ORCID: 0000-0003-2102-1583